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CAPITAL CASE

QUESTION PRESENTED

In Darrell Frederick's capital murder trial the State of Oklahoma relied,
in part, on an unrelated criminal case for which Mr. Frederick had been
completely acquitted, to support the "continuing threat" aggravating
circumstance. The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals held that under Watts
u. United States, 519 U.S. 148 (19971 the use of previously acquitted conduct to
support an aggravating circumstance did not violate the United States
Constitution,

The question presented is:

Whether the State of Oklahoma's reliance on unrelated, previously
acquitted conduct to support an aggravating circumstance violates the Fifth,
Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.
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No.

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

DARRELL WAYNE FREDERICK,

Petitioner,

VS.

THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO
THE OKLAHOMA COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS

To: The Honorable Chief Justice and Associate Justices of the

United States Supreme Court:

Petitioner prays that a Writ of Certiorari issue to review the judgment of

the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals entered in this case.



OPINION BELOW

The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals opinion is reported at 400 P.3d

786 (Okl. Cr. 2O17) and reproduced in the appendix hereto as ("App. A")

Jurisdiction of this cou" t" ,"::-::r.' 2s u.s.c. S r2sr(31. rhe

judgment of the Oklahoma appellate court was entered May 25, 2Ol7. A

Petition for Rehearing was filed on June 14,2017 and subsequently denied on

Jrrly 7, 2OI7. ("App. B") Petitioner sought an extension of time to file this

Petition for Writ of Certiorari from the original ninety (90) days under the Rules

of the Supreme Court of the United States, Part III, Rules 13.1, I3.2, and 13.3.

That request was granted on October 2, 2OI7. The Court granted a sixty (60)

day extension to and including December 4,2OI7.

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

U.S. Const. amend. V:

No person shall be... subject for the same offense to be twice put in
jeopardy of life or limb; ... nor be deprived of life, libertl, or property,
without due process of law ....

U.S. Const. amend. VI:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy
and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the
crime shall have been committed....

U.S. Const. amend. VIII:

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor
cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.
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U.S. Const. amend. XIV:

No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges
or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive
any person of life, liberff, or propert5r, without due process of law; nor
deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the
laws.

Okla. Stat. tit.21, S 7O1.L2l7l

Aggravating circumstances shall be... (7) The existence of a probability
that the defendant would commit criminal acts of violence that would
constitute a continuing threat to society.

INTRODUCTION

Darrell Wayne Frederick, was charged with murder in the first degree.

The State alleged he hit his elderly mother in the head with an undetermined

blunt instrument that ultimately caused her death, during a heated family

dispute that primarily involved his niece, but with whom his mother was

peripherally engaged. Mr. Frederick maintained his innocence and his defense

at trial was that his mother had fallen, which caused the injuries to which she

succumbed, approximately a month afterward. The jury found Mr. Frederick

guilty, of inter alia, first degree murder. During the penalty phase the State

presented evidence that included a prior case, involving multiple violent

counts, in which Mr., Frederick had been acquitted, as evidence in support of

the continuing threat aggravator. The jury found the continuing threat

aggravator, along with two others and imposed the death penalty. This jury

was not asked to find that the facts of the acquitted case were proven by any

specific standard, either preponderance of evidence, clear and convincing, or

reasonable doubt.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Darrell Wayne Frederick, was charged by Information in

Oklahoma County District Court, Case No. CF-20I1-I946, with Count I,

Murder in the First Degree in violation of Okla. Stat. tit.21, S 70L7; Cownt2,

assault and battery with a dangerous weapon, after former conviction of two or

more felonies, and Count 3, domestic abuse, assault and battery arising from

an alleged altercation with his mother, Connie Frederick, and his niece, Da'Jon

Diggs, on March 26, 2OIl. The State filed a Bill of Particulars on September 2,

2OI I, alleging four aggravating circumstances.

A jury trial was held on November 3-13, 2014, before district judge

Timothy R. Henderson. The jury found Mr. Frederick guilty on all counts. The

jury assessed punishment on Count 3 at one year in county jail with no fine.

Following the non-capital sentencing stage the jury found the existence of two

or more prior felonies and assessed a term of twenty-five years in the

penitentiary on Count 2. At the third stage capital sentencing for Count 1 the

jury found the existence of three aggravating circumstances: 1) the defendant

had a prior violent felony conviction; 2) the murder was especially heinous,

atrocious or cruel; and 3) there was a probability that Mr. Frederick posed a

continuing threat to society. The State had dismissed the great risk of death

aggravating circumstance prior to the sentencing stage.

During the capital sentencing phase the State offered acquitted conduct,

among other incidents, to support the alleged continuing threat aggravator.

The acquitted conduct arose from Oklahoma County District Court Case. No.
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CF-2003-3810, included five counts of kidnapping, six counts of assault with a

dangerous weapon and one count of using a vehicle to facilitate the intentional

discharge of a firearm. The remaining count of felon in possession of a firearm

that had been bifurcated was dismissed by the State on the grounds of

insufficient evidence to proceed after the jury's finding of not guilty on all

counts. The jury sentenced Mr. Frederick to death. (Tr. I24I,1274,1603)

At the original trial in CF-2003-3810, that resulted in the acquittal of on

ail counts presented the State called nine witnesses. The defense called one.

At Mr. Frederick's capital trial, sentencing stage, when the State presented

evidence to support the previously acquitted case, the State called two

witnesses and the defense called no witnesses to defend against the case in

which he had previously been acquitted. The witnesses from the previous trial

told the capital jury of a day in a beauty salon that went askew during a

confrontation with Mr. Frederick, who had been asked by the salon owner to

watch over the salon on the day in question while it was being used by other

operators. Witness Brookins told the jury she was assaulted and battered with

a pistol by Mr. Frederick in the hair salon on June 27, 2003. Ms. Brookins

described an altercation with Mr. Frederick, who became upset with her and

various others who were in the salon, and proceeded to produce a pistol,

pointed the pistol at others, including a pregnant woman's stomach, and on

multiple occasions, attempted to shoot the gun, which appeared jammed. Ms.

Brookins claimed Mr. Frederick hit her in the head with the gun and it

d.ischarged. Ultimately the people were able to run out of the salon, after Mr.
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Frederick had initially locked the doors and would not 1et them leave. (Tr.

1340-1379) Another witness, Mr. Jackson, related a similar story.

The defense offered no witnesses to rebut the crimes for which Mr.

Frederick was previously found not guilty, but instead asked each witness if

they were aware the jury in their previous trial had found Mr. Frederick not

guilty of their allegations. (Tr. 1360-1387) The only defense witness called in

the original salon trial had previousiy passed away.

Defense counsel objected to the use of the acquitted conduct and

litigated the issue in a pre-trial Motion to Strike the Allegation in More Definite

and Certain (Charges Defendant was Acquitted of Committing), which was

overruled. Defense counsel renewed the objection to the acquitted conduct

evidence at trial, properly preserving the issue for appeal. (O.R. 7aO-a\ $r.

r276-8sl

After hearing the acquitted conduct evidence, and other evidence in

support, the jury found Mr. Frederick was a continuing threat to society, along

with two other aggravators, and sentenced him to death.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

I. The case presents an issue of national importance.

II. The Supreme Court decision rn (Jnited States u. Watts, 519 U.S.
148 (19971, is incorrect as applied to use of acquitted conduct in
capital sentencing proceedings.

III. Courts are divided on the issue presented'
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THE USE OF MR. FREDERTCK'S PREVTOUS ACQUITTAL INTRODUCED TO
SUPPORT THE CONTINUING THREAT AGGRAVATOR VIOLATED THE
FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

A. Fifth Amendment Due Process and Double Jeopardy:

In United Sfafes u. Watts,5i9 U.S. 148 (1997)r (per curium), the Court

considered the constitutionality of using acquitted conduct at sentencing as it

relates to double jeopardy concerns. The Court held that a "not guilty" verdict

does not preclude a sentencing court from considering the conduct underlying

the acquitted charge so long as that conduct is proved by a preponderance of

the evidence, finding that the standard passed due process inspection in light

of the relatively smail amount of increase the finding made in Mr. Watts'

sentencing guidelines. Id. at 155-56. Watts established a very narrow and

specific question regarding the interaction of the relevant conduct provision of

the Federal Sentencing Guidelines with the Double Jeopardy Clause. The case

was a short, per curium opinion that was issued without full briefing or oral

argument, causing Justice Kennedy to dissent to the opinion. Id. at l7O-17I.

Justice Stevens methodically dismantled the majority's legal reasoning and

ended his dissent with what he saw as the majority's betrayal of the principles

of constitutional jurisprudence.

Appellant submits the rule in Watts does not authorize the use of

previously acquitted conduct to support an aggravating circumstance. Even if

the standard remains good law, which is doubtful as it was decided three

Terms before this Court's seminal decisions in Apprendi u. New Jersey, 53O

U.S. 466 (2000), it required, at a bare minimum that the underlying acquitted

7



charge to be proven by a preponderance of the evidence to be constitutional.

Watts,519 U.S. at 638. Additionally, the Court held that in cases where the

acquitted conduct dramatically increased the sentence, due process might

require a higher standard of proof, saving that finding for another case. Id. at

156-57. That issue has never been decided by the Court.

This case presents the Court with the opportunity to address this issue

head on in the capital sentencing context. Nationwide, aithough the body of

law is narrow, the results have been inconsistent. ln Harmon u. State, 248

P.3d 9I8, 939-40 (Okl.Cr. 2Ol1) the State of Oklahoma found no error, relying

on Watts, in the use of several robberies to support the continuing threat

aggravator in Mr. Harmon's capital case even though one of those robberies

resulted in an acquittal at a subsequent trial. Harmon cited Sanchez u. State,

223 P.3d 980, 1004 (Okl.Cr. 2OO9l, as authority for the holding that a

defendant's conviction or acquittal of a criminal charge neither alters the basic

evidentiary facts of the underlying crime nor determines whether those facts

may be offered to show future dangerousness in a capital trial. It is important

to note that in Sanchez, the conduct offered into evidence had been dismissed

during a plea bargain and was subsequently offered in aggravation. So the

Sanchez holding, although it refers to acquitted conduct, dealt with conduct

that had not been adjudicated but dismissed.

However, the Oklahoma appellate court has also found, contrary to the

holdings in Harmon and Sanchez, supra, that conduct for which a defendant

has been judicially adjudicated not guilty should be excluded from
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consideration in support of an aggravator tn Cummings u. State,968 P.2d 82I,

836 (Okl.Cr. 1998) (the trial court determined the defendant was not guilty of

kidnapping and rape and found that evidence of the dismissed charge should

not be allowed to support and aggravator based on that legal finding), and in

Mitchell u. State, 136 P.3d 67I,681, (Okl.Cr.2006l (crime of rape could not

serve as the predicate crime for "avoid arrest" aggravator for purposed of

resentencing after defendant's convictions for rape and sodomy were vacated

by federal court).

In California, a capital sentencer can consider prior criminal activity that

invoived the use or attempted use of force or violence, "except for acts for which

the defendant was acquitted." People u. Anderson,22 P.3d 347,374-75 (Cal.

2001) In Texas, acquitted conduct may be considered to show a future threat

aggravator, relying on the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure in Powell u. State,

898 S.W.2d,821, 830 (Tex.Crim.App. L994) and Clewis u. State,222 S.W.3d

460, 464 (Tex.Crim.App. 2OO7).

Federally,in Delap u. Dugger, SgO F.2d 285, 316-17 (1ttt' Cir. 1989), the

court found where a defendant had been acquitted of felony murder due to

insufficient evidence and where double jeopardy bars the subsequent

prosecution for that felony, the defendant cannot then be charged in a Florida

death sentence proceeding with the aggravating circumstance that the killing

occurred while the defendant was engaged in committing the same felony for

which he was acquitted. /d. "We conclude that Eighth Amendment values, i.e.,

- the need for reliability and the need to reduce the risk that a death sentence
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will be imposed arbitrarily - are impiicated when a death sentence is based in

part on the commission of a felony of which the defendant has been acquitted."

1. Due Process: The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals relied upon

Watts to deny relief in Mr. Frederick's case, finding, the admission of acquitted

conduct in sentencing proceedings was permissible provided the conduct was

proven by a preponderance of the evidence. (App. A p.20) Three problems exist

with this finding. First, Watts doesn't apply since it related to acquitted

conduct that had been presented at the same proceeding and not in a previous

case acquitted by a different set of fact finders. Second, there is no way of

knowing if the jury, did, in fact, find the acquitted conduct was proven by a

preponderance of the evidence. Second, tlne Watts holding was based upon a

non-capital, simple enhancement of federal sentencing guidelines that did not

"dramatically increase" the punishment range. The Watts standard is totally

inapplicable to a capital sentencing where the evidence is used to support the

imposition of the death penalty.

Starting witln Apprendi u. Neut Jersey,530 U.S. 466 (2OO0), this Court

found that other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the

penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory minimum must be

submitted to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should

clarify that Watfs does not apply to the use of acquitted conduct in a capital

sentencing phase in support of an aggravating circumstance, in light of the fact

that the dramatic increase in punishment would render the preponderance of

evidence standard inadequate and unconstitutional, in light of the holding in
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Watts. Increasing the punishment range in a murder case to the level of death

eligibility is a "dramatic increase in punishment." Watts was never meant to

apply to capital cases. The Watts holding is at odds with this Court's holdings

tn Apprendi u, Neu Jersey, 53O U.S 466 (2000), supra,; Ring u. Arbona, 536

U.S. 584 (2002) (holding the Arizona death penalty statute unconstitutional

because it exposed the defendant to a greater punishment than that authorized

by the jury verdict); and United States u. Booker,543 U.S. 22O (2OO5) (any fact

other than a prior conviction that cease to a sentence exceeding the maximum

authorized by a plea of guilty or a jury verdict must admitted by the defendant

or proven beyond a reasonable doubt).

The Okiahoma appellate court found that since the jury was instructed

that the aggravating circumstance of continuing threat had to be found by the

jury beyond a reasonable doubt, the Watts standard was satisfied. (App. A

p.2O) However, the State presented allegations of multiple other acts, along

with the acquitted conduct, to support the continuing threat aggravator. The

only way to satisfy Watts as it now stands would require a separate verdict

form for the acquitted conduct and an instruction that the jury must find it has

been proven by a preponderance of evidence before the jury can give it any

consideration. Short of that instruction and finding, due process has been

violated under Watts.

The Court should grant certiorari to decide the important constitutional

issue of whether the Watts standard is inadequate in application to capital

cases and find that acquitted conduct should not be used at all or at the least,

11



require the fact finder to find the conduct has been proven to them specifically

and beyond a reasonable doubt.

2, Double Jeopardy: The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth

Amendment protects individuals from multiple prosecutions for the same

offense and protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after

acquittal. U.S. Const. amend. V. The rule that a defendant may not be retried

following an acquittal is the "most fundamental rule in history of double

jeopardy jurisprudence." United Stales u. Martin Linen Supply Co., 430 U.S.

564,571 (19771 To the extent a second jury's consideration of acquitted

cond,uct amounts to a second review of the same offense resulting in additional

punishment, a review the Fifth Amendment squarely prohibits.l In Oklahoma

a capital jury is instructed that it must find the aggravating circumstance

beyond a reasonable doubt but no standard of proof is assigned to the evidence

introduced in support of the aggravating circumstance. Oklahoma. Untform

Jury Instruction -Criminal (Second) 4-76, OUJI-CR(2d) 4-76

In Watts, the Court found the court was not punishing the defendant for

the acquitted conduct in relation to the offense of conviction, making a

distinction between a sentence and sentence enhancement. 519 U.S. at 154-

55. However, much like Justice Ginsburg found, in Ring u, Arizona, 536 U.S.

584, 587 (2OO2\, allowing a jury to find elements but allowing a judge to

determine sentencing factors made the relevant inquiry not one of form, but of

1 William J. Kirchner , Punishment Despite Acquittal; An [Jnconstitutional Aspect of the Federal
Sentencing Guidelines?,34 Ariz. L. Rev. 799,8I4-I5 (1992)
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effect, and whether it was called an element or sentencing factor - it exposed

the defendant to a greater punishment and required a jury to find it.

Similarly, the difference between a sentence and a sentence enhancement is a

distinction without a difference with the end result being the same - the

defendant's punishment will be increased due to consideration of acquitted

conduct. Regardless of the label, enhancement to a death sentence is a

dramatic increase in punishment and violates the Double Jeopardy Clause.

Another notable distinction between Watts and its application by the

Oklahoma appellate court to Mr. Frederick's facts is that tn Watts, as well a

defendant Putra, who's case was decided in the same opinion, the acquitted

conduct had been part of the single trial that was before the sentencing judge,

who then chose to consider the evidence as part of reievant conduct under the

Guidelines. In Mr. Frederick's situation, the acquitted conduct was heard

before an entirely separate jury almost eleven years previously. Since the only

defense witness presented before the first jury had died, and the defense

offered no evidence to contest the charges in the capital case, other than inform

the jury a previous jury had acquitted Mr. Frederick, there was no one involved

in Mr. Frederick's case that had any knowledge of the defense Mr. Frederick

presented to the first jury. Therefore, the Oklahoma court's application of

Watts was misplaced and this Court should find that Watts does not have an

application in Mr. Frederick's case.

13



B. Sixth Amendment Jury Trial Right:

In Watts u. United States,519 U.S. 148 (1997)r (per curium), decided

three years prior to Apprendi u. New Jerseg, 53O U.S. 466 (2000), this Court

did not consider, "nor was there any contention that the sentencing

enhancement had exceeded the sentence authorized by the jury verdict in

violation of the Sixth Amendment." United Sfafes u. Booker,543 U.S. 22O,24O

(2005). Rather, the Court "held that the Double Jeopardy Clause permitted the

court to consider acquitted conduct in sentencing a defendant under the

Guidelines." Booker, 543 U.S. at 24O. Notwithstanding extensive and

significant development of its Sixth Amendment jurisprudence since Watts, t}le

Supreme Court has thus far declined to address the issue. This case presents

this Court with an ideal vehicle for considering this issue in light of Apprendi

and the Court's more recent decisions including AIIegne u. United Sfafes, 133

S.Ct. 2151,2155 (2013) which held that a fact that increases a mandatory-

minimum sentence, no less than a fact that increases a maximum sentence, is

an element that jurors must find beyond a reasonable doubt.

The use of acquitted conduct to support an enhanced sentencing ignores

the Court's unequivocal pronouncements rn Rita u. United States,551 U.S. 338

(2OO7l and again rn Southern(Jnion Co. u. United Sfafes, 132 S.Ct. 2344 (2012),

that any sentence must be based solely upon facts found by the jury or

admitted by the defendant and that consideration of facts not found by the jury

unconstitutionally exposes the defendant to greater punishment.

l4



Punishing a defendant for acquitted crimes undermines the essential role

of the jury. And by enhancing sentencing for acquitted crimes, the jury's

verdict is, as a matter of perception and for all practical purposes, overturned.

Despite the Court's more recent Sixth Amendment jurisprudence, the State of

Oklahoma has continued to allow, albeit inconsistently, the use of acquitted

conduct to enhance murder cases to death eligible cases, relying on the Court's

pre-Apprendi decision in Watts - which held that a sentencing court's

consideration of acquitted conduct was not a violation of Doubie Jeopardy

Clause.2

Watts, however, is a per curium decision and readily distinguishable, as

no Sixth Amendment claim was raised. Booker, 543 U.S. at 24O. This case

presents the Court with an opportunity to address this issue head on in the

capital sentencing context.

C. Eighth Amendment Reliability:

In Oklahoma, the aggravating circumstance that a defendant will pose a

continuing threat to society consists of the jury finding, beyond a reasonable

doubt, that the defendant's behavior has demonstrated a threat to society and

a "probability that this threat will continue to exist in the future." Oklahoma

Untform Jury Instntction-Criminal (Second) 4-74, OUJI-CR(2d) 4-74. The vague

definition hardiy fulfills the narrowing function that aggravating circumstances

are required to fulfill. Allowing previously acquitted conduct to support such

2 See Harmon u. State, 248 P.3d 918, 939-40 (Okl.Cr. 2011); Sanchez u. State, 223 P.3d 980,
1004 (Okl.Cr.2OO9), compared to Cummings u. State,968 P.2d 82I,836 (Okl.CR. 1998) and
Mitchell u. State, 136 P.3d 671,68I (Okl.Cr. 2006), supra, p. 8-9.
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an aggravating circumstance requires a finding that Eighth Amendment values,

including the need for reliability and the need to reduce the risk that a death

sentence will be imposed arbitrarily, are satisfied when a death sentence is

based, in part, on the commission of crimes for which the defendant has

previously been acquitted.

The use of acquitted conduct under the guise that it meets a

preponderance standard fails to comport with the Eighth Amendment

requirement of reliability in capital sentencing which calls for a heightened

degree of scrutiny and reliability in every verdict. Woodson u. North Carolina,

428 U.S. 280 (19761In this case, a previous jury found that Mr. Frederick was

not guilty of the crimes alleged in the beauty salon in 2003. Yet, ten years later

another jury was asked to consider the same facts. The capital sentencing

proceedings, as conducted, did not confirm the jury, did in fact, find the salon

evidence was proven by even the most minimum preponderance standard.

Consideration of acquitted conduct means a death sentence for innocence. The

Watts Court concluded that without specific jury findings, no one can surmise

the jury's findings in an acquittal and consequently, an acquittal does not

equate to innocence. rJnited States u. Watts,519 U.S. L48, 155 (1997) By

allowing consideration of acquitted conduct at sentencing, however, it is

impossible for innocence to have any significance. Watts ignores cases in

which the jury acquitted because of actual innocence, failure of proof even by a

preponderance of evidence, or the jury's constitutional prerogative to acquit

16



against the evidence. Such a condition in a capital case resulting in a death

verdict cannot stand.

The Court's Eighth Amendment jurisprudence clearly and unequivocally

mandates that direct appellate review of a death sentence is one of the primary

avenues to protect against an arbitrary and capricious sentence. The use of

acquitted conduct in this case pitted the verdict of one jury against the finding

of a subsequent jury considering the same evidence that ultimately resulted in

a death sentence. The arbitrary and capricious juxtaposition of the two

verdicts violates the Eighth Amendment.

Petitioner was denied meaningful individual appellate review by the

Oklahoma appellate court's application of Watts in his direct appeal. That

application violated the Double Jeopardy and Due Process Clause of the Fifth

Amendment, the Sixth Amendment, the Eighth Amendment and the Due

Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The Court should address

these important issues to ensure that capital defendants in Oklahoma receive

the protections the United States Constitution provides to defendants who have

been acquitted at jury trial. U.S. Const. amends. V, VI, VIII, XIV.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for writ of certiorari should be

granted.
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Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. RAVITZ
Public Defender of Oklahoma Countv

GINA K. WALKER
Assistant Public Defender
320 Robert S. Kerr, Rm. 611
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73IO2
405-713- 1550
gina.walker@oscn.net
Counsel for Darrell Frederick
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OPINION

LUMPKIN, PRESIDING JUDGE:

fl1 Appellant Darrell Wayne Frederick was tried by

jury and convicted of First Degree Malice Murder

(Count l) (21 O.S.2001, S 701.7(A)), Assault and Battery with A Dangerous Weapon, After Former Conviction of

Two or more Felonies (Count ll) (21 O.S.2001, S 645), and DomesticAbuse Assault and Battery (Count lll) (21

O.S.20O'1, I644 (C)), Case No. CF-2011-1946, in the District Court of Oklahoma County. In Count I, the jury

found the presence of three aggravating circumstances: 1) the defendant was previously convicted of a felony

involving the use or threat of violence to the person, 2) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel;

and 3) the existence of a probability that the defendant would commit criminal acts of violence that would

constitute a continuing threat to society, and set punishment at death. In Counts ll and lll, the jury recommended

imprisonment for twentyJive (25) years and one year, respectively. The trial judge sentenced Appellant in

accordance with the jury's determination and ordered all sentences to run consecutively. Appellant now appeals

his convictions and sentences. 1

fl2 On March 26,2011, between 5:30 and 6:30 p.m., Da'Jon Diggs arrived at the home of her grandmother,

Connie Frederick (hereinafter referred to as the deceased). The deceased was 85 years old and had been deaf

and mute her entire life. She lived in the same house in northeast Oklahoma City in which she had raised six

children. Ms. Diggs attended college in another city but frequently stopped by to check on the deceased. Ms.

Diggs, like much of her family, communicated with the deceased through sign language. Also living at the

deceased's home at the time was Appellant, her fifty-five (55) year old son. He had been living with the deceased

since his release from prison in 2009.

fl3 Ms. Diggs entered the home to find Appellant and the deceased "fussing" in the kitchen. Ms. Diggs later

explained that despite being mute for speech purposes, the deceased could still make some sounds and was

"yelling" at Appellant through guttural noises and sign language involving exaggerated movements with her hands.

Ms. Diggs saw Appellant aggressively grab food out of the deceased's hands" Appellant called the deceased a

"bitch" and told her to get out of the kitchen. He then shoved her against the kitchen counter. Ms. Diggs intervened

and took the deceased to her bedroom, where she was able to calm her.

http://ocis33app/applications/OCISWeb/deliverdocument.asp?cite:2017 ok cr 12 t2t4t20r7
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fl4 Meanwhile, Appellant had retreated to his own bedroom. \y'y'hen Ms. Diggs returned to the kitchen to get the

deceased a drink of water, Appellant appeared and told her not to take anything to the deceased. Ms. Diggs

ignored this warning and took something to eat and drink to the deceased. The deceased wanted juice instead of

water and tried to go to the kitchen. However, Appellant prevented her from entering the kitchen. Ms. Diggs then

volunteered to go to the store for some juice.

115 While out of the house, Ms. Diggs phoned both her mother, who lived out of state, and her uncle, Tobias

Frederick, to discuss her frustrations with Appellant. Both were the deceased's children and Tobias Frederick was

an Oklahoma City Police Officer. Ms. Diggs told both her mother and her uncle that she was afraid Appellant

would seriously hurt her or the deceased. When Ms. Diggs returned to the house, she heard Appellant answer the

phone. Ms. Diggs was able to determine that it was her uncle Tobias that had called. He told Appellant that he had

to leave the deceased's home and find another place to live. Appellant replied angrily, "man, I ain't got time for

this" and hung up the phone. Ms. Diggs could hear Appellant yelling into the phone. Ms. Diggs headed for the

deceased's bedroom and told her to stay in the bedroom no matter what happened. Ms. Diggs then shut the

bedroom door.

fl6 Ms. Diggs headed into another room to retrieve her phone and call police when Appellant charged at her

yelling, "oh, you have a problem with me too? I'll take you bitch." Appellant attacked Ms. Diggs, shoving her

against the wall. The struggle moved from room to room with Diggs attempting to defend herself. Eventually, she

was able to push Appellant off of her, causing him to stumble and she ran out of the house. Appellant chased after

her.

fl7 Outside, neighborhood kids were playing. Seeing Appellant chase after Ms. Diggs, they shouted at her that

Appellant had a brick or rock in his hand. Appellant chased Ms. Diggs around the yard, waving the brick or rock at

her. Ms. Diggs ran to the neighbor's home and borrowed a phone to call the police. Appellant, who was dressed

only in pajama pants, shouted at the neighborhood children and ran inside the house. He returned a few minutes

later, fully dressed. By the time police arrived, Appellant had run around the back of the house. Bystanders heard

the rattle of a chain link fence and Appellant was not seen or heard from the rest of the day.

118 Ms. Diggs followed police into the deceased's home. They found the deceased lying face down on the floor in

her bedroom. The deceased had severe bruising and swelling on both sides of her head to the extent that one eye

was nearly swollen shut. When asked who injured her, the deceased signed the letter "D" which she used to

identify Appellant. The deceased was taken to the hospital. Once there, she was immediately operated on to

reduce the pressure in her brain. She had developed a significant subdural hematoma on the left side of her skull.

The deceased survived the surgery but never regained consciousness. She passed away two to three weeks later.

The cause of death was listed as blunt force trauma to the head.

fl9 Appellant was located a day after the deceased's beating. He was found walking along the street approximately

three blocks from the deceased's home, \l/hen approached by police, he initially gave a false name but soon

admitted his identity. His right hand was significantly swollen and his right finger was cut and bleeding. There was

blood on his clothes. Bloodstains were also found in his bedroom at the decedent's home. Further facts will be set

forth as necessary.

JURY SELECTION

tf10 In his first three propositions of error, Appellant asserts that he was denied a fair and impartialjury in several

ways during jury selection. In Proposition One, Appellant asserts he was denied his state and federal constitutional

rights to due process by the trial court's denial of his request to remove seven specific potential jurors for cause.

Shortly before the exercise of the peremptory challenges, the defense moved to excuse for cause prospective

jurors (hereinafter known by their initials) M.S., J.L.W., T.S., S.S., D.M., J.W., and J.S. The trial court denied the

request as to each potential juror. Defense counsel later used peremptory challenges to remove all but one of

these prospective jurors. The State used a peremptory challenge to remove potential juror J.S.

http://ocis33app/applications/OClSWeb/deliverdocument.asp?cite:2017 ok cr 12 12t4t2017
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fl1'l "ln order to properly preserve for appellate review an objection to a denial of a challenge for cause, a

defendant must demonstrate that he was forced over objection to keep an unacceptable juror." Eizember v. Sfafe,

2007 OK CR 29, 1136, 164 P.3d 208,220 (citing Browning v. Stafe, 2006 OK CR 8, lf 8, 134 P.3d 816, 828.) "This

requires a defendant to excuse the challenged juror with a peremptory challenge and make a record of which

remaining jurors the defendant would have excused if he had not used that peremptory challenge to cure the trial

court's alleged erroneous denial of the for cause challenge." /d.

fl12 Here, Appellant did not request additional peremptory challenges, nor did he identify which allegedly unfit

jurors he would have excused had he been granted more challenges. As a result, Appellant has waived this claim

forappellate reviewandwe reviewonlyforplain error. Browning,2006 OKCR 8, 119, 134 P.3d a|828. Underthe

test set forth in Simpson v. State, 1994 OK CR 40, fl1| 10, 26, 30, 876 P.2d 690,694,699,701, this Court

determines whether the appellant has shown an actual error, which is plain or obvious, and which affects his or

her substantial rights. This Court will only correct plain error if the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity or

public reputation of the judicial proceedings or othenruise represents a miscarriage of justice. ld. Hogan v. Sfafe,

20OO OK CR 19, fl 38, 139 P.3d 907, 923. See also Jackson v. State,2016 OK CR 5, fl 4, 371 P.3d 1120,1121',

Levering v. Sfafe, 2013 OK CR 19, 116, 315 P.3d 392, 395.

fl'13 ln Wainwright v. Witt,469 U.S. 412,424,'105 S.Ct. 844,852,83 L.Ed.2d 841,851-52 (1985), the United

States Supreme Court held that the proper standard for determining when a prospective juror may be excluded for

cause because of his or her views on capital punishment is "whether the juror's views would 'prevent or

substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath."' See

alsoJones v, Sfafe,2OOg OKCR 1,[t14,201 P.3d 869,877',Warnerv. State,2001 OKCR 11, fl8,29 P.3d,569,

573. The Court added that this standard does not require a juro/s bias be proved with "unmistakable clarity."

Wainwright,469 U.S. at 424,'l05 S.Ct. at 852. The Supreme Court further addressed the issue in Morgan v.

iltinois,504 U.S. 719,729,112 S.Ct. 2222,2229,119 L.Ed.2d 492(1992), wherein the Court held that, "[a]juror

who will automatically vote for the death penalty in every case will fail in good faith to consider the evidence of

aggravating and mitigating circumstances as the instructions require him to do." Such prospective jurors are to be

removed from the jury panel for cause. /d. The Morgan and Wainwrighf decisions require that jurors be willing to

go into the trial with no preconceived notions regarding the appropriate penalty, death or life. The selection of

jurors involves many subile observations, and trial courts have broad discretion when considering a request to

excuse a juror for cause. Undervvood v. Sfafe, 201 1 OK CR '12, 
11 37, 252 P.3d 221, 240 citing Wainwright, 469

U.S. at 425, 105 S.Ct. at 853. See also Eizember v. TrammeL 803 F.3d I 129, 1 135 (1Oth Cir.20'15)("the trial judge

is best positioned to determine whether a potential juror will be able to follow his or her instructions-and that a

court of appeals removed from the live proceedings must afford significant deference to the trial judge's

assessments").

fl14 Having thoroughly reviewed the responses of prospective jurors, M.S., J.L.W., T.S., S.S., D.M., and J.W., we

find none of them expressed any preconceived notions of the appropriate punishment or views which would

prevent or substantially impair the performance of his or her duties as a juror in accordance with the instructions

and his or her oath. Therefore, we find the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the challenge for

cause. Finding no error, we find no plain error,

fl15 On appeal, Appellant acknowledges the failure to request additional peremptory challenges or identify jurors

as required by this Court, but now names four additionaljurors who sat on the jury, S.C., S.H., J.H', and N.M., and

argues they were similarly unfit to serve. "Any claim of jury partiality must focus on the jurors who ultimately sat."

Rojem v. Stafe, 2006 OK CR 7, 11 36, 130 P.3d 287,295 (citing Ross v. Oklahoma,487 U.S. 81, 86, 108 S.Ct.

2273,2277,101 L.Ed.2d 80 (1988)). See a/so Eizember,2007 OK CR 29,1170, 164 P.3d at229. This is because

the loss of peremptory challenges is "not of constitutional dimension." Ross, 487 U.S. at 88, 108 S'Ct. at 2278.

Appellant must establish prejudice in order to warrant relief . Rojem, 2006 OK CR 7, 1[36, 130 P.3d at 295.

http://ocis33app/applications/OCISWeb/deliverdocument.asp?cite:2017 ok cr 72 t2t4t20t7
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fl16 Juror S.C. was one of the initial 30 persons called to the jury box. Under questioning by the State, he said he

could keep an open mind as to all punishments. Defense counsel questioned prospective jurors based upon a

hypothetical situation of "a guilty murderer, intentional killing and no excuses and no justification for it." When

asked for his "feelings about the death penalty" in that situation, Juror S.C. replied, "l feel primarily that the

punishment should fit the crime" and "l would be willing to listen to any circumstances that might be pertinent to

that". When asked if he was "leaning toward one of the three [punishment] options", S.C. said, "l think initially I

would be predisposed to think for the death penalty because that's what was made (sic) it out to the victim."

fl17 Juror S.H. told the court he could consider allthree possible punishments. When asked by the prosecutor if he

had any "qualms with either three of those punishments", S.H. replied, "not really, no." When asked to explain his

answer, he said "it would be difficult but, yes, I could do it." S.H. said he could give "meaningful consideration" to

the death penalty if the State proved its aggravating circumstances. He said "it'd be tougher" to give meaningful

consideration to life without parole" but he could do so and that he would want to "hear the whole story." He

explained it would not be impossible for him to consider life without parole and life imprisonment.

fl18In response to questioning by defense counsel regarding his "thoughts" about the death penalty, S.H. said he

"would really hate to be the one that says, yes, you have to die, but it's my duty." He indicated he understood that

even if the State proved an aggravating circumstance, the State must still prove the aggravating circumstances

outweigh the mitigating evidence and that even in that situation, he was not required to impose the death penalty.

When asked if he leaned in any particularway, S.H. said he would "have to hear all - hear everything first." Under

defense counsel's hypothetical, he said he would "lean more toward the death penalty, but I would listen to what

everyone had to say and consider all three." S.H. disagreed with defense counsel's statement that in all first

degree murder cases, the death penalty would be the first option, S.H. said he would have to hear all the facts and

could consider a sentence of life without the possibility of parole for intentional malice aforethought murder. S.H.

admitted though that at that point, he had no direction "on what malice and all that other stuff is by law", but said

that at that moment, he would probably "lean away from life with the possibility of parole."

fl'lg Juror J.H. initially told the court that he could consider allthree punishment options. In response to the State's

questions, J.H. said "the severity of the crime should actually in my opinion fit the punishment", but he could

consider all three punishments. In response to defense counsel's hypothetical, J.H. said he could consider all

three punishments. He said he would not "lean toward any of the three options more than any other option",

"depending on the severity of the murder." J.H. said he would want to know about the mitigating evidence and that

it might make a difference to him.

fl20 Juror N.M. also initially told the court he could consider all three possible punishments. Under questioning by

the State, he said that if death was determined to be the appropriate punrshment, he would not have a problem

signing that verdict. N.M. indicated he could consider a sentence of life without parole if that was warranted by the

evidence. Under questioning by defense counsel, N.M. said he did not have "a problem with the death penalty",

explaining that it depended on "if it fits the crime." He said he was "kind of' one of those people "who are an eye-

for-an-eye kind of person" but he wanted to know all of the evidence. He said he would listen to all of the mitigating

evidence, and that his mind was not "pre-formed or pre-made up . . . , to death or life without parole" until he had

heard all of the evidence.

fl21 None of these four jurors was challenged for cause by Appellant. A review of the voft dire shows that each of

these four jurors affirmed their ability to consider all three punishment options, to listen to all of the mitigating and

aggravating evidence, and abide by their duty as a juror to impose the most appropriate punishment based on the

evidence. None of these four jurors indicated they were irrevocably committed to a particular punishment before

trial began. None of these four jurors expressed views on capital punishment which would prevent or substantially

impair the performance of his or her duties as a juror in accordance with the instruction and his or her oath. The

record shows that each was qualified to serve and could be a fair and impartial juror. Appellant has not shown he

was forced to keep an unacceptable juror after he had exercised all of his peremptory challenges. Thus, he has

not established prejudice sufficient to warrant relief. This proposition is denied.

http://ocis33app/applications/OCISWeb/deliverdocument.asp?cite:2077 ok cr 12 t2l4l2017
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ll22 ln Proposition ll, Appellant contends the trial court erred in denying defense counsel's request to voir dire

potential jurors as to their ability to consider all three possible punishments in the event Appellant was convicted of
murdering his mother. The record shows defense counsel repeatedly asked the court to be allowed to posit

questions based upon the facts of the case to gauge the prospective jurors' views on punishment. Defense

counsel particularly wanted lo voir dire on the hypothetical situation of a defendant convicted of first degree

murder where the victim was the defendant's mother. The trial court would not allow defense counsel to present

that hypothetical to the jury but did allow questioning regarding the prospective juror's attitudes on the death

penalty in the hypothetical situation of first degree intentional murder.

fl23 The purpose of voir drre examination is to ascertain whether there are grounds to challenge prospective jurors

for cause and to permit the intelligent use of peremptory challenges. Warner v. Sfafe, 2006 OK CR 40,115, 144

P.3d 838, 858. The manner and extent of voir dire is within the discretion of the trial court whose rulings will not be

disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion. Eizember,2007 OK CR 29, 11 67, 164 P.3d at228.To
facilitate jury selection, the trial court may restrict questions that are repetitive, irrelevant or in regard to legal

issues upon which the trial court will instruct the jury. Hogan v. Sfafe, 2006 OK CR 27, tl 13, 139 P.3d 907, 917.

No abuse of discretion will be found so long as the voir dire is conducted in a manner which affords the defendant

a jury free of outside influence, bias or personal interest. Eizember,2007 OK CR 29 , 1167 , 164 P.3d at 228.

fl24 This Court has previously rejected claims of abuse of discretion by the trial court in restricting defense counsel

from asking questions dealing with the specific facts of the case on trial or hypothetical situations mirroring the

facts of the case on trial. Black v. Stafe, 2001 OK CR 5, tl 19; 21 P.3d 1047, 1058; Jackson v. Sfafe, 1998 OK CR

39, IJ 12, 964 P.2d 875, 883. In both 8/ack and Jackson, we found no abuse of discretion as defense counsel's

questions were an effort to test jurors' willingness to accept the theory of defense rather than to test their

impartiality.

fl25 In the present case, we likewise find no abuse of discretion. Defense counsel's hypothetical questions

regarding the specific facts that the murder victim was the defendant's mother seemed designed to test the jury's

willingness to accept the theory of defense rather than to test their impartiality. Further, counsel's questions were

an attempt to prejudice the case and try the capital sentencing stage of the trial before it had begun. Appellant

argues that questioning on the specific facts of the case was relevant as several potential jurors said that the

status of the victim as a family member might make a difference in their ability to consider all three punishments.

None of the three prospective jurors named by Appellant (in a footnote to this proposition) actually sat on the jury

that rendered the verdict in this case.

fl26 This Court has held that it is "not interested in whether or not a certain question was allowed to be asked, but

rather whether the defendant was allowed sufficient voir dire to determine if there were grounds to challenge a

particular juror for cause and to intelligently exercise his preemptory challenges." Jackson, 1998 OK CR 39, 11 1 1 ,

964 P.2d at 883. Here, the trial court allowed considerable leeway in questioning regarding the potential jurors'

views on punishment

fl27 Appellant compares his case lo Turner v. Murray,476 U"S. 28, 106 S.Ct. 1683, 90 L.Ed.2d 27 (1986), a

capital case, where the trial judge refused the defendant's request to question prospective jurors on the issue of

racial prejudice. The Supreme Court held that a capital defendant accused of an interracial crime is entitled to

have prospective jurors informed of the race of the victim and questioned on the issue of racial bias. /d., 476 U.S.

at 36-37, 106 S.Ct. at 1688. The Supreme Court explained that "[b]ecause of the range of discretion entrusted to a

jury in a capital sentencing hearing, there is a unique opportunity for racial prejudice to operate but remain

undetected." td., 476 U.S. at 35, 106 S.Ct. at 1687. Further finding that "the risk of racial prejudice infecting a

capital sentencing proceeding is especially serious in light of the complete finality of the death sentence", the

Court said that by refusing to question prospective jurors on racial prejudice, "the trial judge failed to adequately

protect the defendant's constitutional right to an impartial jury." 1d.,476 U.S. at 35-36, 106 S.Ct. at 1688.

http://ocis33app/applications/OCISWeb/deliverdocument.asp?cite:2017 okcr 72 r2t4t20r7
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Appellant's reliance on Turner is misplaced. Appellant's attempt to put the concerns regarding the risk of racial
prejudice infecting a capital sentencing proceeding on the same footing as a potential juror's knowledge that the

crime on trial involved matricide is not persuasive.

fl28 The limitations imposed upon the defense's voir dire in this case were proper. See Harmon v. State,2011 OK

CR 6, 11 9,248 P.3d 918,928. The record shows that defense counsel was permitted to question the potential

jurors at length about their attitudes toward the death penalty. The district court's limitation on the use of a

hypothetical question involving the specific facts of the case did not prevent defense counsel from fully exploring

the potential jurors' views on the death penalty. The voir dlre allowed was broad enough to enable defense

counsel to challenge prospective jurors for cause and to intelligently exercise peremptory challenges. We find no

abuse of the trial court's discretion and this proposition of error is denied.

fl29 In Proposition lll, Appellant contends the trial court erred in accepting the State's explanation for removing

prospective Juror R.G. with a peremptory challenge in the face of Appellant's objection under Bafson v. Kentucky,

476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986). "The Equal Protection Clause forbids the prosecution from

challenging potential jurors solely on account of their race;' Mitchell v. State, 201 1 OK CR 29,1'41 , 270 P.3d 164,

173 (quoting Eafson v. Kentucky,476 U.S. at 89, 106 S.Ct. at 1719). Further:

In order to raise an equal protection challenge to the State's use of peremptory challenges, the

defendant must first make a prima facie showrng that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory

challenges on the basis of race. Then, the burden shifts to the prosecutor to articulate a race-neutral

explanation related to the case for striking the juror in question. The trial court must then determine

whether the defendant has carried his burden of proving purposeful discrimination. The trial court's

findings are entitled to great deference, and we review the record in the light most favorable to the

trial court's ruling.

/d. (internal citations omitted).

fl30 When the State sought to excuse R.G. with a peremptory challenge, Appellant objected and raised a Batson

challenge. When asked to give a race-neutral explanation for the removal, the State gave five: 1)that R'G. caused

a significant delay on the first day of voirdire by absenting himself from the courtroom and thus causing the court

to adjourn early for the day; 2) when called to the jury box, R.G. responded, "shit", 3) he had been previously

prosecuted and convicted by the district attorney's office (the same office prosecuting Appellant), for

embezzlement, receiving a two year deferred sentence; 4) his father had been previously prosecuted and

convicted of armed robbery, the same crime which would be used for enhancement purposes in the second stage;

and b) his beliefs indicated he would not consider the death penalty as he considered it too light of a punishment.

Appellant takes issues with each of the State's explanations, finding them merely a pretext to conceal racial

discrimination.

fl31 The record reflects that late in the day, on the first day of jury selection, R.G. asked to be excused for the

restroom. When he did not return after approximately 20 minutes, the court adjourned for the day. When asked

about this the next day, the prospective juror indicated he did not return to the courtroom because he felt ill but he

felt fine the next day. The court accepted his explanation and continued with vor dire. Defense counsel raised an

objection and moved for a mistrial because the court's initial conversation with the prospective juror was in private.

The court relayed to counsel the reason for the prospective juror's absence and denied the objection and motion

for a mistrial. Both the State and the defense waived calling the prospective juror to repeat what he had told the

judge. Neither the State nor the defense voiced any objection to continuing on with voir dire. Appellant asserts the

State expressed no hesitation in proceeding with voir dire and that the issue was resolved to both party's

satisfaction. The record indicates the State did not voice any opinion at that point as to R.G.'s presence in the

venire.

http://ocis33app/applications/OCISWeb/deliverdocument.asp?cite:2017 okcr 12 t2t412017
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lf32 Appellant compares R.G.'s situation to that of prospective juror P.B. who also caused delays in jury selection.

The record shows that P.B. simply missed a part of jury selection by showing up late the second day. Noting that

the prospective juror was not present for the start of proceedings that day, the court continued on with jury

selection. No objections were raised by the State or the defense and there was no delay in the proceedings.

Defense counsel eventually asked for P.B.'s excusal, with no objection by the State, due to herfailure to follow the

concepts and questions discussed in jury selection. This record shows P.B.'s situation was very different from that

of R.G.'s. The State's decision not to seek P.B.'s excusal due to her being late on the second day does not support

Appellant's argument that the first reason given for excusing R.G. was not race-neutral.

fl33 Appellant claims that the State questioned R.G. "in a light hearted manner" about his response when called to

the jury box. Therefore, he claims that to use that later to excuse him was racially motivated. lt is not clear from the

record whether the exchange between the prosecutor and R.G. was in a light hearted manner. What is clear from

the record is that R.G. said he did not want to be on the jury panel, explaining that he "wanted to stay in [his] little

corner in the back of the courtroom." This Court has found that a prospective juror's desire not to sit on a jury a

sufficient race-neutral rationale for excusal by peremptory challenge. Smith v. Sfate,2007 OK CR 16, flfl 13-15,

157 P.3d 1 155, 1 162-63.

fl34 Appellant challenges the third and fourth reasons for removal - R.G.'s prior prosecution and conviction by the

same district attorney's office involved in the trial and his father's prior conviction - by arguing that these reasons

had a disparate impact upon minorities and by pointing out two prospective jurors whom the State did not seek to

excuse who had either personal prior convictions or family members with prior convictions.

fl35 Past criminal history, either of a prospective juror or of a relative, has been found to be a race neutral reason

for removal. Coddington v. Sfafe, 2006 OK CR 34 ,Il 14, 142 P.3d 437 , 444', Harris v. Sfafe, 2004 OK CR 1 ,II22,
84 P.3d 731 ,743; Btack, 2001 OK CR 5,1132,21 P.3d at 1061-1062; Short v. Sfate, 1999 OK CR'15, !J 15, 980

p.2d 1081 , '10g2. While Appellant points to two jurors who had prior convictions or relatives with prior convictions,

he fails to acknowledge two other prospective jurors, not identified as members of a minority, who were excused

based upon either their own prior conviction or that of a boyfriend. These strikes show that the State was not

acting with any racially motivated pretext when it sought R.G.'s removal for these two reasons.

fl36 Appellant cites to Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 1 1 1 S.Ct. 1859, 1 14 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991) to support

his claim that striking potential jurors for criminal involvement has the potential to disparately impact black jurors or

to conceal purposeful racial discrimination and this disparate impact alone could be sufficient to support a finding

of purposeful, impermissible racial discrimination. Hernandez involved a prosecutor's removal of bilingual, Spanish

speaking jurors in a case involving a Latino defendant. In finding a race-neutral basis had been given for the

peremptory strikes, a plurality of the Supreme Court said:

In evaluating the race neutrality of an attorney's explanation, a court must determine whether,

assuming the proffered reasons for the peremptory challenges are true, the challenges violate the

Equal Protection Clause as a matter of law. A court addressing this issue must keep in mind the

fundamental principle that "official action will not be held unconstitutional solely because it results in

a racially disproportionate impact....Proof of racially discriminatory intent or purpose is required to

show a violation of the Equal Protection Clause." "'Discriminatory purpose' ... implies more than

intent as volition or intent as awareness of consequences. lt implies that the decisionmaker...

selected ... a particular course of action at least in part'because of,' not merely'in spite of,' it's

adverse effects upon an identifiable group."

500 U.S. at 359-360, 111 S.Ct. at 1866 (internal citation omitted)'

!f37 Appellant has failed to show any proof of racially discriminatory intent or purpose as a result of excusing

prospective jurors based upon criminal history.
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fl38 Finally, Appellant asserts that R.G. said he was capable of considering all three possible punishments and
gave no answers indicating he could not sit on the jury. While R.G. did say he could consider all three

punishments, he also told the prosecutor he felt like a person "should suffer for the rest of their life because death

is the easy way out . . . you could always consider death if it's just overuvhelming, but I'd rather have a person

suffer and have to deal with it till they die than just put them out of their misery." R.G. reiterated this sentiment
when questioned by defense counsel. When asked if he understood that life without the possibility of parole meant
just that, R.G. responded, "they have to deal with what they did till they die, not just get out of it by dying," This

Court has found no discriminatory intent in the striking of a juror who expressed reservations about his or her

ability to impose the death penalty. Harris,2004 OK CR 1 ,1|20,84 P.3d at 743.

1139 A race-neutral reason given by the prosecutor need not rise to the level of justifying excusal for cause, but it

must be a "clear and reasonably specific" explanation of his or her "legitimate reasons" for exercising the

challenges. Coddington,2006OKCR34, 11 11, 142P.3dat443. "[A] pretextual reason,thatis,onenotsupported
by the record, should be rejected." Bland v. Sfafe, 2000 OK CR 11, fl 16, 4 P.3d 702,711. ln this case, the

prosecutor's reasons for excusing R.G. were supported by the record. A record which shows the prosecutor did

not exercise peremptory challenges to purposefully discriminate and exclude jurors on the basis of race. The trial

court did not abuse its discretion in accepting the prosecutor's reasons for excusing R.G. This proposition is

denied.

FIRST STAGE ISSUES

fl40 In his fourth proposition of error, Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting the decedent's statement

identifying him as her attacker. Appellant concedes that no objection was raised at trial to the admission of the

statement and therefore our review is for plain error. As previously stated, when we review for plain error, an

appellant must show an actual error, which is plain or obvious, affecting his substantial rights. Hogan,2006 OK CR

19, 1138, 139 P.3d at 923.

'tf41 Relying on Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) and Davis v'

Washington,54T U.S. 813, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006), Appellant asserts that the hearsay

statements were testimonial in nature and their admission violated his rights under the Confrontation Clause of the

Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The State responds that the decedent's statements met the

hearsay exception of a dying declaration and therefore do not violate the Confrontation Clause.

l[42 ln both state and federal criminal prosecutions, an accused has a right "to be confronted with the witnesses

against him] Mitchelt v. State,2005 OK CR 15, 11 15, 120 P.3d 1196,1202 (citing U.S. Const. amends. Vl and

XIV; Okla. Const. art.2, g 20). In Michigan v. Bryant,562 U.S. 344, 131 S.Ct. 1143, 179 L.Ed.2d 93 (2011), the

United States Supreme Court summed up the law on the right to confrontation as follows:

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment states: "ln all criminal prosecutions, the accused

shall enjoy the right ,.. to be confronted with the witnesses against him." The Fourteenth Amendment

renders the Clause binding on the States. ln Ohio v. Robefts,448 U. S. 56, 66, 100 S.Ct. 2531 , 65

L.Ed.2d 597 (1980), we explained that the confrontation right does not bar admission of statements

of an unavailable witness if the statements "bea[r] adequate 'indicia of reliability.' " We held that

reliability can be established if "the evidence falls within a firmly rooted hearsay exception," or if it

does not fall within such an exception, then if it bears "particularized guarantees of trustworthiness."

562 U.S. at 352-353, 131 S.Ct. at1152 (internalcitation omitted).

fl43 The Supreme Court overruled Ohio v. Robertsin Crawford v. Washington,54l U.S. at 60-63, '124 S.Ct. at

1369-137'1 . In Crawford, the Supreme Court drew a distinction between "testimonial" and "nontestimonial" hearsay

statements, noting that "[a]n accuser who makes a formal statement to government officers bears testimony in a

sense that a Derson who makes a casual remark to an acquaintance does not." 541 U.S. at51,124 S.Ct. at 1364.
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Crawford limited the Confrontation Clause's reach to "testimonial" statements and held that in order for testimonial

evidence to be admissible, the Sixth Amendment "demands what the common law required: unavailability and a

prior opportunity for cross-examination." Bryant,562 U.S. at 354, 131 S.Ct. at 1153 (quoting Crawford, a|68,124
S.Ct. 1354). Under Crawford and its progeny, the test for determining whether the admission of an out-of-court

statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted violates the Confrontation Clause focuses on whether the

statement was testimonial or non-testimonial. "Only statements of this sort [testimonial] cause the declarant to be

a 'witness' within the meaning of the Confrontation Clause. lt is the testimonial character of the statement that

separates it from other hearsay that, while subject to traditional limitations upon hearsay evidence, is not subject to

the Confrontation Clause." Davis,517 U.S. at821,126 S.Ct. at2273.

ll44The State relies on G/es v California,554 U.S. 353, 128 S.Ct. 2678, 171 L.Ed.zd 488 (2008)to argue that the

Supreme Court has said that dying declarations "do not run afoul of the Confrontation Clause." In G/es, the

Supreme Court considered whether a defendant forfeits his rights under the Confrontation Clause when a judge

determines that a wrongful act by the defendant made the witness unavailable to testify at trial. However, the State

did not dispute, and the Supreme Court "accept[ed] without deciding", that the out-of-court statements at issue

were testimonial. /d., 554 U.S. at 358, 128 S.Ct. at2682. Therefore, G/es tells us that the first determination to be

made regarding the admissibility of the hearsay statement is whether it is testimonial or non-testimonial. Whether

the statement rs admissible under an exception to the hearsay rule is a separate issue.

lf45 In Cravvford, the Supreme Court did not provide a comprehensive list of what it considered to be a "testimonial

statement". This came a few years later in Davis v. Washington and Hammon v. lndiana (two cases consolidated

for consideration). Dayls and Hammon were both domestic violence cases. The Supreme Court expanded upon

the meaning of "testimonial" in a situation involving an ongoing emergency. The Supreme Court explained:

Statements are nontestimonial when made rn the course of police interrogation under circumstances

objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to

meet an ongoing emergency. They are testimonialwhen the circumstances objecttvely indicate that

there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish

or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.

Davis,547 U.S. at822, 126 S.Ct. at2273-74.

fl46 "To determine whether the 'primary purpose' of an interrogation is 'to enable police assistance to meet an

ongoing emergency,' which would render the resulting statements nontestimonial, we objectively evaluate the

circumstances in which the encounter occurs and the statements and actions of the parties." Bryant,562 U.S. at

359, 131 S.Ct. at'1156, (quoting Davis,547 U.S. at822,126 S.Ct. at2273-2274). Whether an emergency exists

and is ongoing is a highly context-dependent inquiry . ld., 562 U.S. at 363, 131 S.Ct. at 1158.

fl47 Here, police responded to Ms. Diggs' call to find the 85 year old victim, lying on the floor of her bedroom, face

down on her left side. She was unable to get up on her own. Her face was bruised and extremely swollen on the

left side. Ms. Diggs went to help her grandmother sit up and keep her from trying to stand up. A police officer

asked Ms. Diggs to ask her grandmother whether she was in pain and "who did it?" Ms. Diggs testified at trial that

the victim replied by making the sign she used to identify Appellant. Emergency medical personal arrived soon

after and Adam Simmons, a responding paramedic, also asked Ms. Diggs to ask her grandmother what had

happened. Mr. Simmons testified at trial that Ms. Diggs told him that her grandmother said "her son did it', that he

had an object in his hand and there "was an unknown amount of hits." The victim was then transported to the

hospital.

1J48 "A conversation which begins as an interrogation to determine the need for emergency assistance" can

"evolve into testimonial statementsJ Bryanl,562 U.S. at 365, 131 S.Ct. at'1159. "This evolution may occur if, for

example, a declarant provides police with information that makes clear that what appeared to be an emergency is

http://ocis33app/applications/OCISWeb/deliverdocument.asp?cite:2017 ok cr 12 12l4l20r7



OCIS Found Document:FREDEzuCK v. STATE Pase 10 of38

not or is no longer an emergency or that what appeared to be a public threat is actually a private dispute." /d.

Appellant argues that after the initial questioning of the victim pertaining to her physical condition, the primary

purpose of the questioning was to prove past events potentially relevant to later prosecution.

fl49 The initial inquiries in this case resulted in the type of nontestimonial statements upheld in Davis. At the time

the victim identified Appellant as her attacker, police did not know if Appellant was still in the house, if he was

armed, if he had left the house or if he was likely to return. Once named, Appellant was quickly identified as a

convicted felon, one potentially armed. The situation soon encompassed not only a threat to the victim but also

potentially to the police and the public. "When an officer arrives on the scene and does not know where the

perpetrator is, whether he is armed, whether he might have other targets, and whether the violence might continue

at the scene or elsewhere, interrogation that has the primary purpose of establishing those facts to assess the

situation is designed to meet the ongoing emergency and is nontestimonial." Bryant, 562 U.S. at 371-372, 131

S.Ct. at'1163. The questions asked by the officer and paramedic in this case - what had happened and who had

injured the victim - "were the exact type of questions necessary to allow the police to 'assess the situation, the

threat to their own safety, and possible danger to the potential victim' and to the public, . . . including to allow them

to ascertain 'whether they would be encountering a violent felon,' . . . In other words, they solicited the information

necessary to enable them'to meet an ongoing emergency.'" Bryant,562 U.S. at 376, 131 S.Ct. at 1166 (quoting

Davis,547U.S. at827 &832, 126S.Ct. a|2276&2279). Baseduponthefactsinthiscase,wecannotsaythata
person in the victim's situation would have had a "primary purpose" "to establish or prove past events potentially

relevant to later criminal prosecution." Davis,547 U.S. at822, 126 S.Ct. aI2273.

!f50 Because the circumstances of the encounter as well as the statements and actions of the victim and the

police/paramedic objectively indicate that the primary purpose of the interrogation was to enable medical

assistance to the victim and police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency, the victim's identification of

Appellant as her assailant was nontestimonial hearsay. Based upon the facts of this case, we find the

Confrontation Clause did not bar the admission of her statement.

flS1 Relying on Milter v. Sfafe, 2004 OK CR 29,1[27,98 P.3d 738, 744 Appellant asserts that even if we find the

hearsay statement nontestimonial, in order for it to be admissible, we must find that it falls within a firmly rooted

hearsay exception and there is no firmly rooted exception that fits the statement in this case. Since we decided

Milter, the Supreme Court decided Davis and Bryant and made it clear that deciding whether the admission of a

hearsay statement violates the Confrontation Clause based upon whether it is testimonial or nontestimonial in

nature is a separate analysis from determining whether the statement is admissible under an exception to the

hearsay rule. Therefore, for purposes of the Confrontation Clause, we find the statements in this case were

nontestimonial and their admission did not violate Appellant's rights under the Confrontation Clause. We find no

error and thus no plain error.

,tf52 Appellant's assertion that there are no hearsay exceptions which fit the statements in this case leads to

Proposition V. There, Appellant argues that the improper admission of the decedent's hearsay statements violated

his constitutional rights to due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, Appellant asserts that the

statements were inadmissible as they were unreliable hearsay and were not corroborated by any other evidence.

Our review is again for plain error, as Appellant raised no objections to the admission of the decedent's

statements. Hogan,2006 OK CR 19, fl 38, 139 P.3d at 923.

fl53 As no objections to the admission of the declarant's hearsay statements were raised at trial, there is no record

of any discussion regarding the admissibility of the statements. In Proposition lV, the State argued that the

decedent's hearsay statements were properly admitted under the dying declaration exception to the hearsay rule.

A well recognized exception to the hearsay rule, a dying declaration is defined as a statement made by a

declarant, in a prosecution for homicide, while believing that his death was imminent, concerning the cause or

circumstances of what he believed to be his impending death. 12 O.S.2011, S 2804(8)(2) See a/so Moore v.

Sfafe, 1988 OK CR 176,1132, 761 P.2d 866, 871.
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fl54 Here, the 85 year old victim was found lying on the floor with severe injuries to her face. She was conscious
but unable to move on her own accord. She was placed in a "C" collar and immobilized on a back board before

being moved onto a stretcher and then to the ambulance. She was able to interact with emergency personnel and

insisted on being taken to a hospital different from that suggested by the paramedics. While it is impossible to

know exactly what the elderly victim was thinking at the time, we are not convinced that at the time she made her

statements to emergency personnel, she believed her death was imminent. Her hearsay statements were not

admissible under the dying declaration exception to the hearsay rule.

fl55 Another exception to the hearsay rule is that of an excited utterance. Title 12 O.S.2011, $ 2803(2) provides

that a statement "relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of

excitement caused by the startling event or condition" is not excluded by the hearsay rule. "An excited utterance

must meet three foundational requirements: (1) a startling event or condition; (2) a statement relating to that

startling event or condition; (3) made while the declarant is under the stress of excitement caused by the startling

eventorcondition." Martinez v.Sfafe,2016OKCR3, 1150,371 P.3d1100,1113',Mitchell,2005OKCR15,1127,
120 P.3d at 1205. "We examine both the timing of the statement and its spontaneity on a case-by-case basis."

Martinez,2016 OK CR 3, fl 51 , 371 P.3d at 1 1 13. "\Mether a statement qualifies as an excited utterance depends

not on a fixed time but on the facts and circumstances." /d. "An excited utterance 'need not be substantially

contemporaneous with the startling event or condition so long as the declarant is under the stress of

excitement at the time the statement is made."' /d.

fl56 Here, the elderly victim had been assaulted within moments of being found by the police. She had received a

blow which made it impossible for her to move on her own and see clearly. Her responses to the officer and

paramedic were her first communications since being assaulted. Considering the timing and circumstances of the

decedent's statements, made while she was still under the evident stress of the startling and certainly unexpected

assault, we find her statements could have been properly admitted as excited utterances.

1[57 A hearsay exception also exists for statements made for the purposes of receiving medical attention. l!
O.S.2011, S 2803(4). See also Kennedy v. Sfafe, 1992 OK CR 67, 11 10, 839 P.2d 667,670. As the decedent's

statements were made to emergency medical personnel soon after her assault in response to inquiries regarding

her injuries, the statements were properly admitted under this exception. As the decedent's statements fell within

more than one recognized hearsay exception, we find no error, and thus no plain error in their admission.

fl58 Appellant further argues that the State did not produce any witnesses to verify that Ms. Diggs was asked to

question her grandmother about what happened and who assaulted her. Appellant also challenges Paramedic

Simmons' statement that the decedent indicated her son assaulted her. Appellant asserts that Simmons' report

does not say that he received such information directly from the victim only that it was gathered at the scene and

that some of the information included in his report was provided by using "whatever drop down box was closest in

similarity to the information he claimed he provided." Appellant goes on to argue that both Sgt. Ulman, one of the

first officers on the scene, and Simmons testified to how "chaotic and emotionalthings were when dealing with Ms.

Diggs and [the victim] in the bedroom." Appellant claims these were all factors to consider in assessing the

reliability of the information gathered at the scene.

1l5g To the extent that Appellant argues the decedent's statements were not corroborated, there is no requirement

of corroboration for their admission. Any apparent contradictions between the decedent's statements and

witnesses' testimony does not make the statements inadmissible. Contradictions in the testimony and

inconsistency in witness testimony does not render the evidence inherently unreliable, but goes to the weight of

the evidence. Ochoa v. Sfafe, 1998 OK CR 41 ,[t32,963 P.3d 583, 596. The issue of credibility and reliability of

evidence is an issue for the jury. Maticoaf v. Sfafe, 2000 OK CR 1, fl|| 17-18, 992 P.2d 383, 397. "lt is the jury's job

to weigh the evidence, resolve conflicting evidence, and reconcile conflicting testimony." Bell v. Sfafe, 2007 OK

CR 43, 1112, 172 P.3d 622, 626-627 . Accordingly, we find no error and thus no plain error.
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tl60 In Propositions Vl and Vll, Appellant challenges the testimony of four witnesses: Sgt. Ulman; Paramedic

Simmons; Michael Hahn, M.D., the neurosurgeon on call at Mercy Hospital the night the decedent was taken in
and who performed surgery on her; and Tobias Frederick, Appellant's brother. In Proposition Vl, Appellant asserts

he was denied his due process rights to a fundamentally fair trial by the State's failure to give notice that these

witnesses would testify as experts in identifying the source of or excluding the source of the decedent's head

injuries. In Proposition Vll, Appellant challenges the actual testimony of Ulman, Simmons and Tobias Frederick

arguing that it was beyond the witnesses' training and experience and was merely speculation. He claims the

testimony was unreliable, prejudicial and denied him his due process rights to a fair trial.

fl61 The lack of notice claim raised in Proposition Vl is being raised for the first time on appeal. No objections

based on lack of notice were raised before the trial court. Therefore, we review the claim for plain error only.

Hogan,2006 OK CR 19, 1138, 139 P.3d at 923.

fl62 Under 22 O.S.2011, I2002(AX1Xa),(b) & (d), upon request of the defense, the State shall be required to

disclose the names and addresses of witnesses which the State intends to call at trial, together with their relevant,

written or recorded statement, if any, or if none, significant summaries of any oral statement; law enforcement

reports made in connection with the particular case, and any reports or statements made by experts in connection

with the particular case, including results of physical or mental examinations and of scientific tests, experiments, or

comparisons. There is no requirement that the State is to designate in its witness list or summary of testimony that

a witness will testify as an expert.

fl63 All of the challenged witnesses were included in the State's witness list. In the accompanying summary of

expected testimony, it is stated that each of the above witnesses would testify to their observations of the victim at

the crime scene. Regarding Dr. Hahn, the summary of testimony provided that he would testify consistent with his

reports prepared in his treatment of the decedent. However, as Appellant points out, none of the witness

summaries specifically stated that the witnesses would give their opinion as to the source of the decedent's head

injuries.

fl64 The record indicates Appellant was not surprised by this opinion testimony. He did not claim surprise or asK

for a continuance to rebut the testrmony. Further, the record shows that except for Dr. Hahn, none of the

challenged witnesses were offered or qualified as experts in head trauma or the source of the decedent's injuries.

Finding no statutory requirement to designate witnesses as experts, and as the summary of testimony sufficiently

informed the defense of the anticipated testimony of the witnesses, we find no error and thus no plain error.

Proposition Vl is denied.

fl65 In Proposition Vll, Appellant admits that Sgt. Ulman and Tobias Frederick were not offered or qualified by the

trial court as expert witnesses. During the direct examination of both witnesses, defense counsel objected on

grounds that the State was trying to qualify the witnesses as experts in head trauma. The trial court overruled the

objection and allowed the witnesses to testify as lay witnesses based upon their own observations and personal

knowledge. See 12 O.S.201 1 , S 2701 .

fl66 In light of Appellant's objection, we review the trial court's ruling for an abuse of discretion. An abuse of

discretion is any unreasonable or arbitrary action taken without proper consideration of the facts and law

pertaining to the matter at issue or a clearly erroneous conclusion and judgment, one that is clearly against the

logic and effect of the facts presented. Sfafe y. Delso, 2013 OK CR 5, 11 5, 298 P.3d 1 192 , 1194.

fl67 Appellant relies on Williams v. Sfafe, 2OO8 OK CR 19, 188 P.3d 208 and Head v. Sfafe, 2006 OK CR 44, 146

P.3d 1141 to argue that the opinion testimony of Ulman and Frederick was improperly admitted. ln Williams, a

police officer testified to injuries present on the defendant's body at the time of arrest - a fresh abrasion on his right

wrist and hand area, and a laceration on his left shin. He explained that in meeting with other detectives, it had

been determined that one of the suspects had fled by jumping off a second floor balcony and that the defendant's

injuries "looked like injuries that one might receive by. . . jumping and falling." Williams,2008 OK CR 19,1180, 188
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P.3d at 225. This testimony was offered by the State as lay witness opinion testimony. Reviewing for plain error,

this Court found it "impossible for a lay person to determine how the injuries occurred", and without some

specialized knowledge, any opinion about the source of the injuries was pure speculation. /d., 2008 OK CR 19, fJ

83, 188 P.3d at225.

fl68 ln Head, the officer testified that the robbery victim, when shown a photographic display, indicated through

body language that he recognized the defendant as the man who robbed him. However, the victim had not made a

pre{rial identification of the defendant and failed to identify the defendant at trial. 2006 OK CR 44 ,11 17 , 146 P.3d

at 1146-47. Reviewing for plain error, this Court saw the officer's testimony as an attempt to take the victim's lack

of explicit identification as a positive identification. This Court found that using the testimony of a police officer in

the "guise of expert opinion" in this manner is error. /d., 2006 OK CR 44, t[ 18, 146 P.3d at 147-48.

fl69 ln Williams and Head, the officers testified to something that could only be known by someone with some sort

of specialized knowledge - injuries received from jumping off a building and "the nonverbal medium of 'body

language"'. Head,2006 OK CR 44, fl 18, 146 P.3d at1146.In the present case, Sgt. Ulman and Officer Frederick

gave their opinions on an issue any lay witness could give - whether the decedent's injury to the head looked

consistent with that received from a fall to the ground from a standing position. The testimony in this case is similar

to that found admissible in Mitchellwhere a lay witness testified that the injuries he saw on the victim looked like

bite marks. 20'l 1 OK CR 26, ,ll 76, 270 P.3d at '179. There, the trial court informed the jury that the witness was not

qualified as an expert and did not know how the victim received her injuries. This Court found the testimony was

based on the witness's personal observation and was properly admissible as lay witness opinion testimony. /d.,

2011 OK CR 1[fl 76-77,270 P.3d at 179.

fl70 Appellant insinuates that merely because the witnesses were police officers that their testimony was that of an

expert. However, neither witness was qualified as an expert. lt is clear from their testimony that they were not

present when the victim was injured and did not know how she was injured. Their testimony was based upon their

own observations of the victim's head wound and physical surroundings of her bedroom. Their opinions as to the

source of her injuries were relevant to rebut Appellant's claim that the decedent merely fell and hit her head. We

find the testimony was properly admitted as lay witness opinion testimony under 12 O.S.2011, I2701. See a/so

Littlejohn v. Sfafe, 2004 OK CR 6, lTlJ 34-35, 85 P.3d 287, 299. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in

admitting the testimony.

fl71 As for Paramedic Simmons, no objection was raised to his testimony that he did not believe the decedent's

injuries were consistent with a fall. Reviewing only for plain error, we find none. Jackson, 2016 OK CR 5 ,11 4, 371

P.3d at 112'1. Simmons testified that he arrived on the scene to find the victim lying on the floor but propped

upright by Ms. Diggs. lt was clear he was not present when she received her injuries. Simmons observed the

injuries and prepared the victim for transport in the ambulance. His testimony concerning the source of her injuries

was based upon his own personal observations and was therefore properly admitted as lay opinion testimony

under 12 O.S.2011, I 270'1. Proposition Vll is denied.

FIRST STAGE JURY INSTRUCTIONS

ll72ln Proposition Vlll, Appellant contends the trialcourt erred in refusing to give his requested instructions on the

lesser included offenses of heat of passion manslaughter and second degree depraved mind murder as such

instructions were warranted by the evidence. "The determination of which instructions shall be given to the jury is a

matter within the discretion of the trial court." Eizember,2007 OK CR 29, 11 111, 164 P.3d at 236. "Absent an

abuse of that discretion, this Court will not interfere with the trial court's judgment if the instructions as a whole,

accurately state the applicable law." /d.

fl73 When a defendant defends against a criminal charge by proclaiming innocence, he is not entitled to

instructions on any lesser included offense. Harney v. Sfafe, 2011 OK CR 10, !J 11, 256 P.3d 1002, 1005; Grissom

v. Sfafe, 201'l OK CR 3,'1135,253 P.3d 969,982; Gilson v. Stafe, 2000 OK CR '14, 11 119, 8 P.3d 883, 918. This
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rule applies whether the defendant presents his defense through his own testimony at trial as well as when the

theory of defense is presented through statements of counsel. Grissom, 2011 OK CR 3, fl 35, 253 P.3d at 982.

"Specifically, where the defendant makes admissions by counsel during trial that render every defense unavailable

save one, he is deemed to have elected that defense; and may, by his election, foreclose the submission of

instructions on other theories of defense or lesser-included offenses inconsistent with his defense." /d. From

opening statement through cross-examination of witnesses to closing argument, Appellant asserted that he was

not the source of the decedent's injuries; rather those injuries came as a result of her falling. Based upon this

record, Appellant is not entitled to instructions on any lesser included offenses.

fl74 Appellant also asserts that by failing to instruct the jury on any lesser forms of homicide, his federal due

process rights under Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.5.625,100 S.Ct. 2382,65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980) have been violated.

ln Beck, the Supreme Court held that a sentence of death may not constitutionally be imposed after a jury verdict

of guilt of a capital offense, when the jury was not permitted to consider a verdict of guilt of a lesser included non-

capital offense, and when the evidence would have supported such a verdict. 447 U.S. at 637, 1 00 S.Ct. at 2389.

This holding was limited in Schad v. Arizona,501 U.S. 624,646,11'1 S.Ct. 2491,115 L.Ed.2d 555 (1991), where

the Court held that due process does not require the jury to be instructed on every non-capital lesser-included

offense supported by the evidence, just that the jury may not be placed in an "all-or-nothing" choice between

capital murder and innocence. Valdez v. Ward,219 F.3d 1222, 1242 (1Oth Cir. 2000). See a/so Eizember v.

Trammell,803 F.3d 1129,1147 (10th Cir. 2015).

fl75 In contrast to Beck and Schad, a first degree murderconviction in Oklahoma is not automatically tied to the

death penalty. The jury is not instructed that if they convict the defendant of the charged offense, they are required

to impose the death penalty. Instead, Oklahoma juries have a choice. In the sentencing stage they must weigh

mitigating evidence against aggravating circumstances before deciding to impose life in prison, life in prison

without the possibility of parole or death. In Hooks v. Ward, 184 F.3d 1206 (10th Cir. 1999), the Tenth Circuit

found that aspect of state law not sufficient to preclude a Beck analysis. Specifically, the Court said "a proper

readrng of Beck entitles a defendant in a capital case to a lesser included instruction when the evidence warrants

it, notwithstanding the fact that the jury may retain discretion at sentencing to issue a penalty less than death." 184

F.3d at 1227.Therefore, Oklahoma's sentencing scheme does not preclude a Beck analysis.

fl76 However, the applicability of Beck in a case such as the present where a defendant defends himself by

proclaiming innocence appears to be a question of first impression. As we have previously stated, an instruction

on a lesser included offense is not warranted when a defendant chooses as his defense that of innocence, and not

guilt of a lesser form of homicide. By choosing to proclaim his innocence, Appellant forecloses the admission of

evidence or submission of instructions on other theories of defense. Grissom, 2011 OK CR 3, 11 35, 253 P.3d at

982. This Court was not called upon to do a Beck analysis in Gdssom. As of the date of this opinion, the Tenth

Circuit has not ruled on Grlssom.

l[77 Beck repeatedly indicates that lesser-included-offense instructions are proper only where the evidence

warrants them. /d. 447 U.S. at 635 n. 11, 636 & n. 12,100 S.Ct. 2382, n. 11 & 12. This principle was upheld in

Schad, 501 U.S. at 648, 111 S.Ct. at 2505. See a/so Valdez v. State, 1995 OK CR 18, fl 55, 900 P.2d 363, 378-

37g ("Neither Beck v. Alabama nor Schad v. Arizona require that a jury in a capital case be given a third, non-

capital option where the evidence absolutely does not support that option"). In a first degree murder prosecution

like the present case, Beck requires a court to consider whether there was sufficient evidence introduced at trial

from which a jury could rationally conclude that the defendant did not intend to kill the victim and that supported a

finding of guilt of a lesser form of homicide. Taylor v. Workman, 554 F.3d 879, 890 (10th Cir. 2009). The

sufficiency of the evidence of the greater offense is distinct from the Beck inquiry into whether the evidence might

allow a jury to acquit a defendant of the greater of the offenses and convict of the lesser. Hogan v. Gibson, 197

F.3d 1297. 1305 (1Oth Cir.1999).
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fl78 In the present case, since Appellant elected to defend himself on a claim of innocence and not guilt of a lesser

offense, there is no evidence of a lesser offense to consider. Defense counsel did not present evidence nor argue

that Appellant killed the victim but did so without malice. Counsel's cross-examination of witnesses and his

argument in closing asserted that the victim's injuries were caused by her falling of her own accord. Counsel

argued that Appellant did not intend to kill the victim, that the State did not have any evidence that he ever touched

her after she left the kitchen, and that there was no evidence that he killed his mother.

fl79 In Hopperv. Evans,456 U.S. 605, 102 S.Ct. 2049,72 L.Ed.2d 367 (1982) the defendant admitted to not only

killing the victim, but that he intended to kill the victim and that he would do the same thing again in similar

circumstances. /d. 456 U.S. at 612, 102 S.Ct. at 2053. The Supreme Court found that "the evidence not only

supported the claim that respondent intended to kill the victim, but affirmatively negated any claim that he did not

intend to kill the victim." ld. 456 U.S. at 613, 102 S.Ct. at254. Therefore, an instruction on a lesser form of

homicide was not warranted. /d.

fl80 Nothing in Beck suggests that the courts are constitutionally compelled to give lesser included offense

instructions where they are not supported by the evidence. Under the facts of this case, we find Appellant's federal

due process rights under Beck have not been violated because under state law he was not entitled to any

instructions on lesser included offenses by claiming innocence as his defense and therefore there was no

evidence upon which to find him guilty of a lesser form of homicide. Accordingly, this proposition of error is denied.

fl81 In Proposition lX, Appellant argues that improper argument concerning flight and the absence of a jury

instruction on flight denied him his due process rights to a fair trial. The record shows that no instruction on flight

was requested. During closing argument, the prosecutor referred to Appellant's leaving the decedent's home after

she had been beaten and his absence once police arrived. No objections were raised to the absence of the flight

instruction or the argument regarding flight. Now on appeal, Appellant asserts the argument regarding flight and/or

failing to stop the proceedings and properly instruct the jury on how to consider flight evidence infringed upon his

right to remain silent and was a violation of his rights to due process and a fair trial under the Fourteenth

Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article ll, S 7 and 20 of the Oklahoma Constitution. In the

absence of any objections, our review is for plain error. Hogan, 2006 OK CR 19, 11 38, 139 P.3d at 923.

fl82 Instructions on flight should be given only in cases where the evidence is controverted by the defendant and

as an exception rather than as a rule. Mitchetlv. Sfafe, 1993 OK CR 56, 11 11, 876 P,3d 682, 685.2 See a/so

Dawkins v. Sfafe, 2011 OK CR 1,11 16, 252P.3d214,219; Hancockv. State, 2007 OK CR 9, 11 104, 155 P.3d

796, 820; Jones v. S/afe,2006 OK CR 5, 1143, 128P.2d 52'1,539. Before an instruction is given, the defendant

must first present evidence explaining his departure. Mitchell, 1993 OK CR 56, 1l1l 9-11,876 P.3d at 684-685.

Here, Appellant offered no evidence explaining his departure from the scene of the crime. Therefore, the giving of

an instruction on flight was not warranted.

fl83 As for the prosecutor's closing arguments on flight, they were proper as based on the evidence and

reasonable inferences therefrom. Sanchez v. Sfate, 2009 OK CR 31 ,1171,223 P.3d 980, 1004. Evidence of a

defendant's actions after a crime is committed, including flight, is relevant to show consciousness of guilt. Dodd v.

Sfafe, 2004 OK CR 31,1134, 100 P.3d 1017, '1031. Further, the prosecutor made no reference to Appellant's right

to remain silent. Based upon the record before us, we find no error and thus no plain error in the absence of a

flight instruction and the prosecutor's closing argument.

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER

fl84 In Proposition X, Appellant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his first degree murder

conviction. We review sufficiency of the evidence claims in the light most favorable to the prosecution to determine

whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

Davis,2011 OK CR 29,1174,268 P.3d at 111. This Court will accept all reasonable inferences and credibility

choices that tend to support the verdict. /d.
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fl85 Appellant first argues that neither of the State's expert witnesses, Dr. Hahn and Dr. Harrison, "could

conclusively exclude the possibility" that the decedent's injuries came from a fall. Drs. Hahn and Harrison both

provrded testimony and written reports which concluded that the decedent's injuries were not consistent with a fall

from a standing position. Whether or not this testimony was conclusive on the subject was for the jury's

determination. The credibility of witnesses and the weight and consideration to be given to their testimony are

within the exclusive province of the jury. /d., 2011 OK CR 29, 11 83, 268 P.3d at 112. Here, the jury was well within

its province in agreeing with the doctors'opinions.

fl86 Appellant also argues that the State "failed to overcome evidence that [he]was angry and upset and actually

had a tussle with both Da'Jon Diggs and [the decedent] in the minutes leading up the arrival of the police," and

that even if the Court finds the evidence sufficient to prove he caused the injuries, it does not prove beyond a

reasonable doubt that the injuries were inflicted with the intent to take the decedent's life.

fl87 A person commits murder in the first degree when that person unlawfully and with malice aforethought causes

the death of another human being. 21 O.S.201'1, S 701.7(A). "Malice is that deliberate intention unlawfully to take

away the life of a human being, which is manifested by external circumstances capable of proof." /d. "A design to

effect death [i.e., premeditation] is inferred from the fact of killing, unless the circumstances raise a reasonable

doubt whether such design existed." 21 O.S.2011, S 702. See a/so Davis,2011 OK CR 29, 1T 76, 268 P.3d al111.
Premeditation sufficient to constitute murder may be formed in an instant or it may be formed instantaneously as

the killing is being committed. /d. Malice aforethought may be proved by circumstantial evidence. /d.

fl88 Unquestionably, the evidence showed that the decedent and Appellant quarreled and had a physical

altercation shortly before her murder. Appellant shouted at his 85 year old mother and cursed her for taking some

food. Appellant shoved his mother against the kitchen cabinet. Worried about the safety of her grandmother, Ms.

Diggs intervened and led the decedent to her bedroom. A few minutes later, Appellant verbally attacked and

threatened Ms. Diggs, ultimately chasing her out of the house. Still carrying the rock or brick he used to threaten

Ms. Diggs, Appellant returned inside the house.

fl8g Although we cannot know for sure in which order subsequent events occurred, Appellant severely beat the

decedent about the head, changed his clothes and then left the house. Appellant cites to a variety of extra-record

evidence stating that physical pushing, shoving, and fighting was "a scenario not unique in that household."

fl90 Be that as it may, such a claim does not negate the inference that at the time of the murder, Appellant acted

with malice aforethought. In fact, Appellant's evidence would seem to support the State's argument that Appellant

had repeatedly argued with his mother and that he sought to put an end to those arguments by killing her. See

Rutan v. Sfafe, 2009 OK CR 3, 1155, 202P.2d 839, 850 (defendant's history of threats and physical abuse inflicted

on the victim supported the finding that the victim died as a result of the criminal acts of the defendant)" He

silenced his mother by beating her in the head to the extent that her face was almost unrecognizable. When

apprehended the following day, Appellant's right hand was extremely swollen" The manner of killing and pattern of

wounds can support a finding the defendant intended to kill his victim. See Hogan, 2006 OK CR 27, 11 22, 139

P.3d at 919.

fl91 Based on the State's evidence, the jury could logically infer that Appellant deliberately intended to take the

elderly decedent's life by beating her in the head. Having reviewed the evidence in the light most favorable to the

State, we find sufficient evidence was presented to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant acted with

malice aforethought when he killed the decedent. This proposition of error is denied.

SECOND STAGE ISSUES
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fl92 In Proposition Xl, Appellant challenges the use of his prior conviction for First Degree Burglary to support the

aggravating circumstances of prior violent felony and continuing threat. First, Appellant contends there was no

threat or use of violence in hls prior conviction and the trial court erred in admitting the evidence without first

holding a hearing pursuant to Brewerv. State,1982 OKCR 128,650 P.2d 54. Appellantarguesthat had a proper

hearing been held, the evidence would not have been admitted to the jury.

fl93 The aggravating circumstance of prior violent felony provides: "[t]he defendant was previously convicted of a

felonyinvolvingtheuseorthreatof violencetotheperson."2'l O,S.2011,8701.12(1).lnBrewelthisCourtsaid,
"[t]he State is required to go beyond simple proof that a defendant in a capital case had prior felony convictions to

establish the aggravating circumstance." 1982 OK CR 128, 11 36,650 P.2d at 62. "The State must additionally

prove that the prior felonies involved the use or threat of violence to the person." /d. When the aggravator is

alleged, an in-camera hearing should be held in order to determine whether the prior crime actually involved the

threat or use of violence. ld., 1982 OK CR 128, 1l 41 , 650 P.2d at 63.

tl94 ln the present case, the First Degree Burglary conviction was included in the State's More Definite and Ceftain

Statement in Re Punishment.ln a pre-trial motion hearing, defense counsel moved to strike his non-violent felony

convictions, specifically the first degree burglary conviction, from the more definite and certain statement. The

State responded by setting out the facts of the prior conviction and arguing it was a violent offense. The court

overruled the defense objection. There is no indication in the record that an objection was raised to the absence of

lhe in-camera hearing required by Brewer. Therefore, we review that claim for plain error. Hogan, 2006 OK CR 19,

1138, 139 P.3d at 923.

!f95 The State asserts that a Brewer hearing was not required in this case because the prior conviction was also

used to supportthe continuing threataggravating circumstance. The State's interpretationof Brewer is notexactly

correct. ln Brewer, this Court said that following lhe in-camera finding by the trial court that the prior felony did

involve the threat or use of violence, the defendant is to be given the opportunity to personally stipulate that the

prior conviction involved the use or threat of violence. ln Cole v. State,2007 OKCR27, 164 P.3d 1089, we held

that the defendant does not have the right to so stipulate if the prior conviction is also used to support the

aggravating circumstance of continuing threat. "When the State alleges both of these aggravators, 'the jury is

entitled to have before it all possible relevant information about the individual defendant whose fate it must

determine."' td.2OO7 OKCR27, flfl 49-50, 164 P.3d at 1100. The Court has not held that merely because the

same prior conviction is used to support the two aggravators, that a Brewer hearing is not required.

fl96 |n Coddington,2011 OKCRlT,2S4P.3d6s4,thisCourtfoundthattherecorddidnotreflectthatthetrial
court had conducted a pretrial Brewer hearing on the evidence offered to support the prior violent felony

aggravating circumstance. However, this failure was not found to require relief as the details of the convictions

alleged to support the allegation that the defendant had prior violent felonies were admissible in support of the

State's claim that the defendant presented a continuing threat to society. ld., 2011 OK CR 17, fl 56, 254 P.3d at

708.

fl97 Here, the record likewise does not reflect a Brewer hearing was held. The error was plain and obvious. Did

this error affect Appellant's substantial rights? The State's evidence showed that Appellant broke into an occupied

home at approximately 3:30 a.m. by twisting the locked doorknob. Appellant stole personal property, cash, credit

cards and personal identification. The responding officers testified that Appellant was not cooperative with the

officers, that he struggled and resisted arrest. Appellant said he was 19 years old when he was actually 25, and

was found to be in possession of channel lock pliers. 3

fl98 However, the homeowner testified that he was not aware of the burglary at the time of its commission and that

he was awakened by police officers shouting at him to come outside with his hands up. When he responded, the

homeowner was told by the officers that a burglary suspect might be inside the home. Appellant was located in the
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homeowner's backyard and taken into custody. This evidence shows that the crime did not involve the use of

violence or the threat of violence to the homeowner or his family. Therefore, the evidence should not have been

admitted to support the prior violent felony aggravator.

fl99 Details of the burglary were admissible for a different and entirely legitimate purpose, to support the

continuing threat aggravator. See Smith v. Sfafe, 2013 OK CR 14, 11 62, 306 P.3d 557,577. To support the

continuing threat aggravator, "[w]hat is essential is that the jury have before it all possible relevant information

about the individual defendant whose fate it must determine." Smith v. Sfafe, 1991 OK CR 100, 1129, 819 P.2d

270,277 (quoting Jurek v. Texas,428 U.S. 262,275-276, 96 S.Ct. 2950, 2958, 49 L.Ed.2d 929 (1976)). "This

relevant information may include evidence from the crime itself, evidence of other crimes, admissions by the

defendant of unadjudicated offenses, or any other relevant evidence." /d. Factual details of Appellant's prior

burglary conviction meet this criteria.

1J100 Appellant argues that a First Degree Burglary conviction does not normally indicate a continuing threat of

violence, citing to Lockett v. Sfafe, 2002 OK CR 30, 53 P.3d 418.In Lockett, this Court stated that "[w]hile a prior

burglary conviction would not usually indicate the existence of a probability that the defendant would commit future

criminal acts of violence constituting a continuing threat to society, it did so in the present case." 2002 OK CR 30,

fl 33, 53 P.3d at 428. While Appellant did not have the five shotguns, two rifles, two pistols, three hunting knives

and several boxes of ammunition that Lockett had, this Court has found that "[a] first degree burglary always

carries with it the likelihood for a violent encounter with an occupant, and it is this likelihood which the jury must

determine when it considers future dangerousness." Cleary v. Sfate, 1997 OK CR 35,1'74,942P.2d736,752.
Appellant's forced entry into an occupied home during the early morning hours certainly carried with it the

likelihood for a violent encounter and was sufficient to show that Appellant would commit future criminal acts of

violence constituting a continuing threat to society.

fl101 Accordingly, we find the trial court's error in failing to hold the requisite Brewer hearing did not affect

Appellant's substantial rights as evidence of the First Degree Burglary conviction, while not admissible to prove the

prior violent felony aggravator, was admissible to support the continuing threat aggravator. Finding no plain error,

this proposition is denied.

fl102 In Proposition Xll, Appellant argues that admission of his juvenile offense, a First Degree Robbery conviction

when he was 16 years old, to support the aggravating circumstances of prior violent felony and continuing threat

violated his rights under the Eighth Amendment, This objection is raised for the first time on appeal. Therefore, we

review only for plain error. Hogan,2006 OK CR 19, fl 38, 139 P.3d at 923.

fl103 Appellant relies on Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005) where the

Supreme Court held that execution of individuals who were under the age of 18 at the time of their capital crimes

violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Appellant argues that the holding and reasoning in Slmmons

should preclude the use of juvenile adjudications to support aggravating circumstances in a capital sentencing

proceeding. This Court has previously rejected this claim. Harmon,2011 OK CR 6,1,74,248 P.3d at 942',

Coddington,2Oll OK CR '17, tlfl 51-52, 254P,3d at707', Mitchell v. State,2010 OK CR 14, !|fl 83-87,235 P.3d

640, 659-60. Appellant's analysis and authorities provide no reason to overturn our prior holding.

fl104 In Proposition Xlll, Appellant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the prior violent felony

aggravating circumstance. Referring to arguments raised in prior propositions of error, he reiterates that the

evidence surrounding the First Degree Burglary conviction was insufficient to meet the statutory definition of prior

violent felony and that evidence of his juvenile offense was improperly admitted under Roper v. Slmmons. He

argues that without this evidence, there is no support for the aggravator.
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fl105 When the sufficiency of the evidence supporting an aggravator is challenged on appeal, we review the

evidence in the light most favorable to the State to determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found

the facts necessary to support the aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. Bush v. Sfafe, 20'12 OK

cR 9, 1[ 31, 280 P.3d 337, 345.

fl106 As addressed in Proposition Xl, Appellant's First Degree Burglary conviction did not contain evidence of the

use of violence or the threat of violence to a person and was therefore not sufficient to support the prior violent

felony aggravator.

fl'107 Regarding the conviction for Robbery with Firearms, Appellant was shown to have walked into a gas station,

carrying a white paper sack and a shotgun. Appellant pointed the shotgun at the store owner and ordered her to fill

the sack with money. The owner complied and Appellant ran out of the store. When reviewed in the light most

favorable to the State, we find this evidence sufficient to support the jury's finding of the prior violent felony

aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt. See Patton. v. Sfafe, 1998 OK CR 66, tl 85, 973 P.2d 270, 295-296. This

proposition is denied.

fl108 In Proposition XlV, Appellant claims that the evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt

that the decedent's murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. We review the record to determine whether

the evidence, considered in the light most favorable to the State, was sufficient for a rational trier of fact to find the

aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. Postelle v Sfafe, 20'l 1 OK CR 30,1'78,267 P.3d 114, 143.

A particular murder is especially heinous, atrocious or cruel where the evidence shows: (1)that the murder was

preceded by either torture of the victim or serious physical abuse; and (2) that the facts and circumstances of the

case establish that the murderwas heinous, atrocious or cruel. ld., a|1179,267 P.3d at 143. The "term'torture'

means the infliction of either great physical anguish or extreme mental cruelty." /d. A finding of "serious physical

abuse" or "great physical anguish" requires that the victim have experienced conscious physical suffering prior to

death. /d. "[T]he term 'heinous' means extremely wicked or shockingly evil, the term 'atrocious' means

outrageously wicked and vile; and the term 'cruel' means pitiless, designed to inflict a high degree of pain, or utter

indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of others." /d"

fll09 Appellant and the decedent were arguing over food when the altercation began. He took food out of her

hand and shoved her into the kitchen cabinet. This resulted in her being taken to her bedroom for her own safety.

Appellant attacked the decedent in her bedroom, bludgeoning her in the head with either a rock, a brick or his

hand. He either caused her to fall to the floor or struck her once she was on the ground. lt is a reasonable

inference from the evidence that the decedent saw Appellant, her own son, strike her. Due to her speech

disabilities, she would have been unable to cry for help. Her injuries were so severe she was almost

unrecognizable to her son Tobias. The bruising about her left eye was so bad that doctors were unable to open it

later at the hospital. There is no dispute that the decedent was conscious throughout the attack. In fact she tried to

get herself up from the floor but was unable to physically do so. Her head injuries were so severe that her skull

was actually crushed in several places. Doctors ordered surgery within minutes of examining her. Evidence that

the victim was conscious and aware of the attack supports a finding of torture and serious physical abuse. Pavatt

v. Sfafe, 2007 OK CR 19 ,1175, 159 P.3d 272, 294; Patton, 1998 OK CR 66, 11 91 , 973 P.2d at 296-97 .

fll10 Appellant relies on Hawkins v. Sfafe, 1994 OK CR 83, 891 P.2d 586 to argue that the aggravator is not met

due to the lack of gratuitous violence. ln Hawkins, the victim's cause of death was drowning. This Court said that

"[n]o evidence of serious physical abuse, that is, gratuitous violence inflicted on the victim beyond the act of killing"

was present in the case. ld., atII33, 891 P.2d al596-97. ln Browning, 2006 OK CR 8, 11 50, 134 P.3d at 843,

however, this Court noted that no definition of "serious physical abuse" has been adopted, "including the one in

Hawkins See a/so 8ush, 2012 OK CR 9, 11 37, 280 P.3d at 337, 346. Further, in Hawkins, evidence of

serious physical abuse was only one aspect of the aggravating circumstance examined by the Court. The Court

went to look at evidence of torture and the infliction of extreme mental cruelty. This Court found the evidence

sufficient to support the "most extreme form of mental cruelty" and ultimately the aggravating circumstance.

Hawkins, 1994 OK CR 83, 11 45, 891 P.2d at 597 .
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fl111 The evidence shows that Appellant intended to inflict a high degree of pain and did so with utter indifference

to the decedent's conscious physical suffering. There was sufficient evidence for the jury to find beyond a

reasonable doubt that the decedent's murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. This proposition is
denied.

fll12 In Proposition XV, Appellant asserts that the use of a previous acquittal to support the continuing threat

aggravating circumstance renders his death sentence invalid under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution and corollary provisions in the Oklahoma Constitution.

fl1'13 ln support of the continuing threat aggravator, the State offered evidence that Appellant had been charged in

the District Court of Oklahoma County, Case No. CF-2003-3810, with five counts of Kidnapping, five counts of

Assault with a Dangerous Weapon, two counts of Assault and Battery with a Dangerous Weapon, one count of

Using a Vehicle to Facilitate the Intentional Discharge of a Firearm and one count of Possession of a Firearm,

After Former Conviction of a Felony. A jury acquitted Appellant on 13 counts and one count was dismissed by the

State. Appellant objected to the use of this evidence. At a pre-trial hearing, the trial court overruled Appellant's

objection finding that evidence of a prior acquittal could be properly admitted in support of the continuing threat

aggravator. Appellant renewed his objection at the time the evidence was presented and was again overruled. We

reviewthetrialcourt'srulingadmittingtheevidenceforanabuseof discretion.Davis,2011OKCR29, 11 156,268

P.3d at 125.

fl114 Appellant acknowledges our holding in Harmon,2011 OK CR 6, 'llfl 61- 63,248 P.3d at 939-940 where we

said that the Supreme Court and other courts have held that "the admission of acquitted conduct in sentencing

proceedings is permissible provided the conduct is proven by a preponderance of the evidence" (citing United

Sfafes v.Watts,519 U.S. 148,157,117 S.Ct.633,638, 136 L.Ed.2d 554 (1997)).

fl115 Appellant challenges our reliance onWatts arguing that is an extremely narrow decision which may not still

be good law. Wattswas also challenged in Harmon, although on grounds that it had been rendered obsolete by

Johnson v. Mlsslssrppr,4S6 U.S.578, 108 S.Ct. 1981, '100 L.Ed.2d 575 (1988)and Rtng v. Arizona,536 U.S.584,

'122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002) because Waffs did not require evidence supporting the aggravating

circumstance to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt in a capital sentencing proceeding. We found both cases

distinguishable as neither required the offenses offered to prove future dangerousness be proven beyond a

reasonable doubt. The cases only required that the aggravating circumstance to support a death verdict be proven

beyond a reasonable doubt. Harmon,2011 OK CR 6, fl 63, 248 P.3d at 940'

fl116 In the present case, Appellant cites no authority supporting his assertion that Waffs is no longer good law.

lnstead, he relies on the fact that Waffs was a short, per curiam opinion to which Justice Stevens wrote a strong

dissent. Be that as it may, we have not found where Waffs has been overruled and Appellant's attempts to

distinguish the case are not persuasive.

fl1 17 ln Harmon, quoting to Sanchez,2009 OK CR 31, 1l1l 69-70, 223 P.3d at '1004, this Court reiterated that we

have long recognized that "unadjudicated offenses linked to a defendant in a capital case may be introduced to

support the claim of future dangerousness." Further, "[a] defendant's conviction or acquittal of a criminal charge

neither alters the basic evidentiary facts of the underlying conduct, nor determines whether those facts may be

offered to show his future dangerousness in a capital sentencing trial;' ld., 20'1 1 OK CR 6 , 1162, 248 P.3d at 939-

940. Evidence of a capital defendant's violent acts is relevant and admissible to show the existence of a probability

the defendant poses a continuing threat, "whether those acts resulted in a conviction of the actual offense, some

related or lesser included offense, or no conviction at all." ld.

fl118 Appellant briefly asserts that his jury was not instructed that any burden of proof was required or provided

any definition of what that burden is. To the contrary, the jury was instructed that the State was required to prove

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant's behavior demonstrated a threat to society and a probability that
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this threat will continue to exist in the future. Oklahoma Uniform Jury Instruction - Criminal2d 4-74. The "beyond a
reasonable doubt" standard is a higher standard of proof than the preponderance of the evidence standard

discussed in Watts.

fl119 Appellant argues that permitting the State to use his acquitted conduct forced him to defend himself from

something he had already defeated. Appellant fails to recognize that it is his prior conduct that is being relied upon

to prove the aggravator not that the conduct resulted in criminal charges. In the present case, the State presented

two witnesses who testified that on June 27 , 2003, Appellant entered a hair salon where at least five people were
present. He pulled a gun from his waistband, pointed it at one of the hairdressers and pulled the trigger. The gun

did not fire, so he struck the hairdresser in the head several times causing her to fall to the ground.

fl120 Appellant then pointed the gun at two more people and again pulled the trigger but the gun did not fire. He

then pointed it at a woman who pleaded with him not to shoot because she was pregnant. lgnoring her pleas, he

pointed the gun at her stomach and pulled the trigger. The gun did not fire. He hit the woman in the head causing

her to fall to the floor. Appellant eventually exited the salon followed soon thereafter by the customers. Appellant

jumped into a nearby car and fired at the salon customers as they left the building. The jury heard that this conduct

resulted in the filing of criminal charges, a trial, and that Appellant was found not guilty by the jury.

fl121 "The focus of capital sentencing centers on the individual defendant's record and character." /d. 2QI-1-8.K-Q.B

0, 11 63, 248 P.3d at 940. Appellant's conduct in the hair salon was properly admitted as relevant to the jury's

consideration of his future dangerousness and whether he posed a continuing threat to society. This proposition is

denied.

11122 ln Proposition XVl, Appellant asserts that use of his prior convictions for Robbery with Firearms and First

Degree Burglary to support both the aggravating circumstances of prior violent felony and continuing threat is

unconstitutional. This argument is being raised for the first time on appeal. Therefore we review only for plain

error. Hogan, 2006 OK CR 19, fl 38, 139 P.3d at 923.

fl123 This Court has rejected this specific claim numerous times, finding that evidence of prior convictions to

support these two aggravating circumstances does not show the same aspect of Appellant or his crime.

Coddington,2011 OK CR 17, 11 57, 254 P.3d at 708; Rojem v. Stale, 2006 OK CR 7, fl 65, 130 P.3d 287, 300;

Fitzgeratd v. Stafe, 2002 OK CR 3'1, fl 16, 61 P.3d 90'l , 906, Williams v. Sfafe, 2001 OK CR 91J 98-101 , 22 P.3d

702,725-26.

fl124 Appellant argues that under tJnited Sfafes v. McCullah, 78 F.3d 1087,1112 (1Oth Cir. 1996), the use of

duplicative aggravating factors was found to create an unconstitutional skewing of the weighing process which

necessitates a reweighing of the aggravating and mitigating factors. ln Turrentine v. Sfafe, 1998 OK CR 33, fl 84,

965 P.2d 955, 978-979, we said that in McCullah, "the Court, held that submission of four particular

aggravating circumstances to the jury, one of which was a non-statutory aggravator, was unconstitutional as all

four of the aggravators addressed the same aspect of the defendant's mental state." /d. We found McCullah

distinguishable in that it highlights the difference in federal case law where both statutory and non-statutory

aggravators are utilized. /d. We found this very different from our state statutory scheme where distinct

aggravators aimed at very different aspects of the defendant's character and conduct are set forth and these are

the only aggravators which can be utilized in determining the appropriateness of a death sentence. /d. This

analysis has been upheld in Johnson v. Gibson,l69 F.3d 1239,1252 (1Oth Cir. 1999).

fl125 As drscussed in Proposition Xl, the prior conviction for First Degree Burglary was insufficient to support the

prior violent felony aggravator. Evidence of Appellant's prior conviction for Robbery with Firearms is indicative of

Appellant's violent criminal past and sufficient to support the aggravating circumstance of prior violent felony. The

underlying facts of the offense support the continuing threat aggravator by showing Appellant's propensity for

violence and future dangerousness and the need to protect society from his probable future conduct. As the
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evidence in the present case supporting the two statutory aggravators involved different aspects of Appellant's

character or crime, we find no duplication or overlapping of aggravators. Finding no error, we find no plain error

and this proposition is denied.

t1126 In his seventeenth proposition of error, Appellant contends that the erroneous admission of evidence to

support the aggravating circumstances violated his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution and corresponding provisions of the Oklahoma Constitution.

According to Appellant, the improperly admitted evidence consisted of evidence surrounding his prior convictions

for First Degree Burglary and Robbery with Firearms and evidence of the 2003 criminal charges for which he was

tried and acquitted. Appellant asserts that had this improperly admitted evidence been excluded from sentencing,

the remaining evidence in aggravation would have been four instances of domestic violence, "dramatically altering

the weighing process of aggravating circumstances and mitigating circumstances."

11127 ln Proposition Xl, we found evidence of the First Degree Burglary insufficient to meet the statutory definition

of prior violent felony, but sufficient to support the continuing threat aggravator. In Proposition Xll, we found

evidence of the prior conviction for Robbery with Firearms committed when Appellant was a juvenile properly

admitted. In Proposition XV, we found evidence of Appellant's 2003 acquittal properly admitted. Based upon our

analysis in those propositions of error, the improper admission of the First Degree Burglary conviction did not

constitute plain error as the evidence was properly admitted to support the continuing threat aggravator. No other

improper evidence was admitted during the capital sentencing stage of trial. Appellant's cumulative error claim with

resoect to this evidence is denied.

fl'l28 In Proposition XVlll, Appellant asserts that erroneous and highly prejudicial evidence was admitted during

the sentencing stage which violated his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the

United States Constitution and corresponding provisions of the Oklahoma Constitution. Specifically, he refers to

hearsay testimony from Natalie Patterson given during presentation of the evidence surrounding Appellant's 2003

charges and testimony from Inspector Klika regarding obtaining a buccal swab from Appellant. No objections were

raised at trialto either testimony, therefore we review only for plain error. Hogan,2006 OK CR 19, fl 38, 139 P.3d

at 923.

11129 The State called Tammie Brookins to testify to events surrounding the 2003 incident at the hair salon. Ms.

Brookins told the jury that Natalie Patterson was in the salon at the time and was six months pregnant. Brookins

described how when Appellant pulled out his gun, Patterson ran to get away. Brookins testified that at some point,

Appellant approached Patterson and "she was telling him, like please, don't - you know, don't shoot me, don't

shoot me. He was, like, 'bitch, don't beg for your life now. You wasn't begging for your life when you was talking all

that shit." Antonio Jackson, another patron at the salon, testified that Patterson was pleading with Appellant to

leave her alone, that she said something about "her having a baby because she's pregnant" and Appellant

basically told her "F your baby" and he pulled the trigger at her stomach. Ms. Patterson did not testify at trial.

!l'130 Initially, we consider the alleged hearsay properly admitted in the absence of any objection. See Short v.

Sfate, 1999 OK CR 15, 11 32, 980 P.2d 1081, 1096 (when alleged hearsay is admitted without objection, the

statements may be considered as though they are admissible). See a/so Plantz v. Stafe, 1994 OK CR 33, 11 37,

876 P.2d 268, 279. Further, it is not clear that the statements were hearsay. The hearsay rule is applicable only

when an out of court statement is offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. 12 O.S.2011, S 28q1(3). The

hearsay rule, however, does not operate, to render inadmissible every statement repeated by a witness as made

by another person. Woodruff v. State, 1993 OK CR 7, fl 57, 846 P.2d 1124, 1139. lt does not exclude evidence

offered to prove the fact that a statement was made or a conversation was had, rather than the truth of what was

said. /d.
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fl131 Here, Patterson's statements were not offered to prove that she asked Appellant not to shoot her. The

statements were offered to show Appellant's vrolent conduct during the 2003 incident at the hair salon which

supported the State's theory that Appellant posed a continuing threat to society. We find no error and no plain

error in the admission of Ms. Patterson's statements.

fl132 lnspector Klika testified that in June 2012, he executed a search warrant on Appellant at the county jail to
obtain a buccal swab. Klika testified that Appellant resisted his attempts to obtain the swab. Appellant became

aggressive and additional officers were called in to subdue Appellant. Klika said when he was finally able to get

Appellant's mouth open to insert the swab, Appellant bit Klika's finger, This evidence was offered by the State to

support the continuing threat aggravating circumstance.

fl133 Appellant contends that the "Llse of the covert warrant process" contravenes the law as set forth in Cole v.

Parr, 1979 OK CR 51, 595 P.2d 1349.ln Cole, the State petitioned the District Court to compel the defendant to

allow the State to obtain blood, saliva, hair and seminalfluid samples from him. The State argued in its motion that

certain items of evidence, i.e., hair, blood, and stains of an unknown nature, had been taken from the victim and

the crime scene and that they were being held and examined. This Court framed the issue as "whether an

examination and analysis of the defendant's specimens would be of probative value in the prosecution of this

defendant." /d. 1979 OK CR 51, 1[2, 595 P.2d at '135'1. This Court found that at the hearing in District Court, the

State had "failed to demonstrate that the samples taken from the scene of the crime and the body of the victim

were viable testing samples . . or that any rational connection joined the samples within the possession of the

State and the specimens sought of the defendant". /d.

fl]34 Citing to Schrnerberv. Catifornia, 384 U.S. 757, 86 S.Ct. 1826, 16 L.Ed.2d 908 (1966), this Court said "the

'overriding function of the Fourth Amendment is to protect personal privacy and dignity against unwarranted

intrusion by the State.' This mandates a protection against those intrusions not justified in the circumstances nor

made in a proper manner." This Court concluded:

Despite the State's assertion of necessity, we hold that it is not only unnecessary, but it is improper

procedure to require an accused to provide physical samples for testing by the State prior to the

State's testing of specimens from the body of the victim and the scene of the crime. . . . However, we

see the issue as being whether the State has presented sufficient evidence of the probative value of

such tests in the prosecution of the case. lf the State can show the probative value of the requested

tests at an evidentiary hearing, then the defendant may be subject to submitting to the extractions in

a reasonable manner, of similar samples from his own body

Cole, 1979 OK CR 5'1, fl 5, 595 P.2d at 1351-52.

u135 The State asserts the prosecution did present sufficient evidence of the probative value of such tests prior to

obtaining Appellant's buccal swab. The State argues this case is similar to Pyle v. State, 1982 OK CR 51, 645

P.2d 1390. ln Pyte, the prosecution obtained a search warrant to retrieve hair, blood and saliva samples from the

defendant. This Court said the affidavit articulated sufficient underlying facts to establish probable cause to believe

that the defendant had committed the crime and that it provided the magistrate with probable cause to believe that

the evidence requested to be seized would be probative in the prosecution of the case. /d., 1982 OK CR 5'1, 116,

645 P.2d at 1391. This Court found the search of the defendant's body pursuant to the valid search warrant was

reasonable and that the State did not violate the appellant's Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable

search and seizures under Schmerber. The Court concluded that "the rule in Cole was sufficiently followed." /d.

11136 In the present case, the affidavit supporting the search warrant provided the magistrate with probable cause

to believe the buccal swab from Appellant would be probative in the prosecution of Appellant for the decedent's

murder. As in Pyle, we find the State's obtaining the buccal swabs from Appellant pursuant to the valid search

warrant was reasonable, that Appellant's Fourth Amendment rights to be free from unreasonable search and

seizures was not violated, and the principle of Cole was sufficiently followed. /d.
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fl'137 Appellant also argues that his Sixth Amendment rights were violated when the prosecution did not notify

defense counsel they were seeking a search warrant to obtain the buccal swab. Appellant not only raises this

objection for the first time on appeal, but he fails to cite any authority in support of his claim. We note only that the

law does not require notice be given before a search warrant is executed. The record reflects that the search

warrant was obtained, executed and returned in compliance with state law. See 22 O.S.2011, SS 1221-1238.

Finding no error in Inspector's Klika's testimony, we find no plain error. This proposition of error is denied.

ALLEGATIONS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

tf'l38 In Proposition XlX, Appellant alleges that several instances of prosecutorial misconduct denied him a fair

trial. lt is well established that a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's

comments standing alone, for the statements or conduct must be viewed in context; only by so doing can it be

determined whether the prosecutor's conduct affected the fairness of the trial. Davis, 2011 OK CR 29,11 174, 268

P.3d at '128. In order for the remarks of the prosecuting attorney to constitute reversible error they must be flagrant

and of such a nature as to be prejudicial to the defendant. /d. From a practical standpoint, every slight excess by

the orosecutor does not require that a verdict be overturned and that a new trial be ordered. /d.

fl139 None of the comments challenged on appealwere metwith contemporaneous objections attrial. Therefore,

our review is for plain error under the standard set forth above. Hogan,2006 OK CR 19, fl 38, 139 P.3d at 923.

fl140 During voir dire, the prosecutor asked a potential juror whether she recalled an earlier question about being

able to consider all three possible punishments. The prosecutor added, "[a]nd when I say consider, deliberate and

talk to '1'l other jurors." Now on appeal, Appellant asserts the prosecutor improperly defined the word "consider"

and this error "obviously affected" the way a potential juror answered the critical question whether he could

consider a "straight life punishment". Appellant contends that in Mitchellv. Sfafe, 2010 OK CR 14, 11 32, 235 P.3d

640, 650, this Court cautioned courts against attempts to define or further explain the term "consider". ln Mitchell,

the appellant challenged death qualification questions asked by the trial court; specifically use of the term

"meaningful consideration" which was not included in the uniform jury instructions. In a footnote to Mitchell v.

Sfate, 2006 OK CR 20, 1140, n. 97, 136 P.3d 671,690, n. 97 we cautioned courts against attempts to define or

further explain the term "consider" because the word "consider" has a commonly understood meaning; and even

good-faith attempts to clarify its significance in this context invariably run the rrsk of shading its meaning in a way

that is misleading or erroneous. /d.

fl141 ln the 2010 Mitchettdecision, we found that the court, prosecutor and defense counsel had all used the

terms ,,meaningful consideration" "consideration" and "consider" interchangeably. We held there was no indication

the term caused any confusion among potentialjurors. 2010 OK CR '14, 
11 32, 235 P.3d at 650. Mitchellmerely

cautioned against defining terms which have a commonly understood meaning. lt did not state that doing so was

error.

11142ln the present case, defense counsel provided a nearly identical definition as that of the prosecutor who said

to prospective jurors, "you must deliberate with other jurors, and that's talk to them." Here, we find no error and

thus no plain error in the prosecutor's statement as there is no indication the term caused any confusion among

potential jurors or that it affected the way potential jurors answered questions regarding the three punishment

ootions.

fl143 Appellant next asserts that in first stage closing argument, the prosecutor misstated the testimony of Dr.

Hahn by telling the jury that Dr. Hahn testified that the decedent wouldn't take a "header" but she would "wilt"; that

he would expect lacerations to be smooth if she fell on the floor and the three scars found at the autopsy were

consistent with this testimony, and that if the decedent had done a "header" he would expect broken bones in her

arms.
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fl'144 We have long allowed counsel for the parties "a wide range of discussion and illustration" in closing

argument. Sanchez,2009 OK CR 31 ,1'71,223 P.3d 980, 1004 (citing Hamilton v. State, 1944 OK CR 69, 79

Okla.Crim. 124, 135, 152 P.2d 291, 296). Counsel enjoy a "right to discuss fully from their standpoint the evidence

and the inferences and deductions arising from it." /d. We will reverse the judgment or modify the sentence only

where grossly improper and unwarranted argument affects a defendant's rights. /d.

fl145 There was considerable discussion between both counsel and Dr. Hahn on what type of fall it would take to
produce the injuries seen in the decedent. Dr. Hahn noted that typically when a person falls, they "catch"

themselves with their hands or have other injuries; "unless they have something called syncope where they pass

out and they're unable to get their arms out in front of them. A lot of people when they pass out, they just slump.

So usually they don't have that type of head injury." There was no evidence that the decedent suffered from

syncope disorder.

fl'l46 On re-direct, Dr. Hahn testified that the injuries he saw on the decedent were more than he would expect

from a fall in the home. He said that even considering the decedent's heart condition, it was a rare case for a

person with a heart condition to just fall straight forward to the ground, He explained that "oftentimes people like

that will wilt"; by wilting he explained that "if you're standing there they just kind of fall to their knees and then -

either to their side". On cross-examination, Dr. Hahn was asked if a family member had reported being with the

decedent when "perhaps she wilted", whether she complained of chest pains and was rushed to the hospital for a

heart condition, and "would that impact at all on your opinion today?" Dr. Hahn responded, "my opinion thus far is

just that there was a woman with a head injury." When asked "would she be more susceptibte perhaps to falling if

that was her situation?" the doctor responded, "it still typically doesn't look like that."

fl147 The prosecutor's argument contained reasonable inferences from Dr. Hahn's testimony. As the prosecutor

noted, she recalled Dr. Hahn's testimony differently than defense counsel. While there was a misstatement or two

of the testimony, these were minor misstatements which did not mislead the jury and could not have affected the

outcome of the trial. See Btand v. Sfafe,2000 OK CR 11,11 102, 4P.3d702,728. The majority of the argument

was wellwithin the wide latitude permitted in closing argument.

fl148 Appellant also asserts the prosecutor improperly argued that the decedent would "tell [] anybody that asked

her" that Appellant was her attacker. Appellant calls this a gross misstatement of the evidence in light of Detective

Helm's affidavit in support of the arrest warrant that the only thing the decedent said at the scene was that she had

to go to the bathroom, and two sources which he seeks to have added to the record through Rule 3.'11. a

tf 149 Initially, the prosecutor's comment was, "[y]ou have the single-most important piece of evidence you could

possibly have in the fact that Connie Frederick, the deceased in this case, told you this wasn't a fall. She told you

through telling anybody that asked her at the scene before she got to the hospital that her son had done this."

fl150 Further, none of the evidence now relied upon by Appellant was admitted at trial. Detective Helm did not

testify and the referenced affidavit was not admitted into evidence, nor were the alleged statements of Tobias

Frederick and Da'Jon Diggs. Evidence which was admitted included testimony from Ms. Diggs and Paramedic

Simmons that the decedent identified Appellant as her attacker. The prosecutor's comment was a reasonable

inference and not a gross misstatement. We find no error and thus no plain error in the prosecutor's statement.

fl151 The next group of challenged statements is from capital sentencing closing argument. First, Appellant

contends the prosecutor improperly argued that the enormity of killing one's own mother was an aggravating

circumstance. Reading the challenged comments in context, we find no error and thus no plain error. The jury was

instructed on the alleged aggravating circumstances and killing one's own mother was not included as an

aggravating circumstance. The prosecutor argued that the evidence in the case showed that Appellant struck his

mother in the head with an object resulting in injuries severe enough to cause her death less than three weeks

later and that this evidence was sufficient to support the alleged aggravator of heinous, atrocious or cruel. We do

not read these comments to be an expression of personal opinion but as reasonable conclusions based on the
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evidence. "ln the sentencing stage of a capital trial, aggravating and mitigating circumstances are to be discussed.

The prosecution has the right, to not only discuss the evidence from his standpoint and all the reasonable

inferences arising therefrom, but also to argue the evidence in aggravation. Paxton v. Sfafe, 1993 OK CR 59, tl 70,

867 P.2d 1309, 1330.

fl152 Appellant next argues the prosecutor gave an inaccurate account of the weighing process by telling the jury

that in determining whether the aggravating circumstances outweigh the finding of one or more of the mitigators, to

consider the grace and love exhibited by Appellant's family when it allowed him to move back into the family home.

Appellant asserts the argument asked the jury to incorporate an irrelevant factor into the weighing process, much

like calling for victim impact evidence to be improperly used in the weighing process.

fl153 Reading the prosecutor's argument in context, she argued that the evidence offered by the defense in

mitigation, should not mitigate Appellant's punishment. She contrasted evidence of Appellant's violent past with

the generosity his family had shown him and then asked the jury to consider how Appellant repaid that generosity.

We will not require counsel in such serious cases "to address the jury with lifeless and timid recitations void of

moral reflection or persuasive power." Sanchez,2009 OK CR 31, 1] 75, 223 P.3d at '1005. The prosecutor

reminded the jury they had to find the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating factors and that the

evidence supporting the aggravators outweighed the mitigating evidence. The jurors were well aware that the

statements of counsel were not evidence and were intended to persuade the jury during its deliberations. We find

no error in these comments, and thus no plain error.

fl154 Appellant asserts the prosecutor erred in telling the jury that they were there to do justice for the victim, and

not for Appellant. He argues this is a misstatement of the law which this Court has characterized as "fundamental

error." During the second portion of the sentencing closing argument, the prosecutor commented that "[w]e're not

here to do justice for him. He is not why we're here. We're here to do justice for Connie Frederick. That's why

we're here."

fl155 lt is improper for prosecutors to ask jurors to have sympathy for victims. Warner v. Sfafe, 2006 OK CR 40, 1[

190, 144 P.3d 838, 890; Jones v. Sfafe, 1987 OK CR 103, 11 15, 738 P.2d 525,529 Tobler v. State,'1984 OK CR

90, 11 16, 688 P.2d 350, 354. "lt is clearly improper for a prosecutor to make arguments which tend to 'divert the

jury from its duty to decide the case on the evidence."' Jones, 1987 OK CR 103 ,11 17 , 738 P.2d at 530. However,

such comments standing alone usually do not warrant reversal. ln Tobler, the conviction was reversed based upon

numerous instances of misconduct. 1984 OK CR 90, fl 28, 688 P.2d at 356. Here, the comment was inappropriate.

We review such comments within the context of the entire trial, considering not only the propriety of the

prosecutor's actions, but also the strength of the evidence against the defendant and the corresponding

arguments of defense counsel. Srmpson v. Sfafe, 2010 OK CR 6, 1126, 230 P.3d 888, 899. Given the strength of

the State's evidence against Appellant we find that the inappropriate comment did not deprive Appellant of a fair

trial or affect the jury's assessment of punishment. There was no plain error here.

fl156 Finally, Appellant asserts the prosecutor denigrated the mitigating evidence by arguing that putting Appellant

in prison is a reward in light of the mitigation evidence, that the jury should not consider mitigation, that mitigation

was an excuse and that they should not feel guilty in light of the mitigation offered. Appellant relies in part on

Lockettv. Ohio,438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct.2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978) and Eddlngs v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104,102

S.Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982) wherein the United States Supreme Court stated that persuading the sentencer to

ignore mitigating evidence is error.

fl157 Reading the challenged comments in context of the entire closing argument, we find they fall within the

broad parameters of effective advocacy. The prosecutor has the right to discuss evidence during the second stage

in arguing for an appropriate punishment. Warnel 2006 OK CR 40, 11 192, 144 P.3d at 890. The prosecutor may

properly attempt to minimize the effect of the evidence presented by the defense. /d.
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Here, the prosecutor did not denigrate the mitigating evidence or tell the jury to ignore the evidence offered in

mitigation. The prosecutor's argument merely attempted to minimize the effect of the evidence presented by the

defense. Several of the comments were invited by defense counsel's closing argument. See Pickens v. Safe, 1993

OK CR 15, fl 63, 850 P.2d 328, 343 (the prosecution has the right to respond to arguments made by defense

counsel in their closing argument). Further, the jury was appropriately instructed as to the mitigating evidence and

was not in any way precluded from considering any and all mitigating evidence. Accordingly, we find no error and

thus no plain error.

CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

fl158 In Proposition XX, Appellant asserts he was denied the effective assistance of counsel. This Court reviews

ineffective assistance of counsel claims under the two-part test mandated by the United States Supreme Court in

Strickland v. Washington,466 U.S.668, 687,104 S.Ct.2052,2064,80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Malone v. State,2013

OK CR 1, fl '14, 293 P.3d 198, 206. The Strickland test requires an appellant to show: (1) that counsel's
performance was constitutionally deficient; and (2) that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense. ld.

Unless the appellant makes both showings, "it cannot be said that the conviction ... resulted from a breakdown in

the adversary process that renders the result unreliable." /d.

fll59 The Court begins its analysis with the strong presumption that counsel's conduct fellwithin the wide range of

reasonable professional assistance. /d., 2013 OK CR 1, fl 15, 293 P.3d at 206 (citing Strickland,466 U.S. at 689,

104 S.Ct. at 2065). Appellant must overcome this presumption and demonstrate that counsel's representation was

unreasonable under prevailing professional norms and that the challenged action could not be considered sound

trial strategy. /d. This Court has stated that the issue is whether counsel exercised the skill, judgment and

diligence of a reasonably competent defense attorney in light of his overall performance. \d.,2013 OK CR fl 15,

293 P.3d at206-207.

fl160 Appellant first finds counsel ineffective for failing to file a motion in limine to exclude the decedent's alleged

hearsay statements. Appellant argues that as demonstrated in Propositions lV and V, the decedent's statements

should not have been admitted as they violated the Confrontation Clause. Appellant asserts that if the erroneously

admitted hearsay had not been admitted, there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have

been different.

fl161 In Propositions lV and V we addressed the admissibility of the decedent's statements through Da'Jon Diggs

and Paramedic Simmons. After a thorough analysis we found the statements were non-testimonial hearsay and

their admission did not violate the federal Confrontation Clause. We further found the statements properly

admissible pursuant to state law under the hearsay exceptions for an excited utterance and statements made for

medical treatment.

fl162 When a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel can be disposed of on the ground of lack of prejudice, that course

should be followed. /d., 2013 OK CR'1,11 16, 293 P.3d at207 (citing Strickland,466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.Ct. at

2069). To demonstrate prejudice an appellant must show that there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of

the trial would have been different but for counsel's unprofessional errors. /d. "'The likelihood of a different result

must be substantial, not just conceivable."' ld., (quoting Harrington v. Richter,562 U.S. 86, 112, 131 S.Ct. 770,

792, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (201'l)). Here, as the statements were properly admitted, we find Appellant was not

prejudiced by counsel's failure to file a motion in limine.

fl163 Appellant next argues counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate or present evidence on potential

causes for the injuries to Appellant's hand. When located by police the day after the assault, Appellant's right hand

was swollen and his fingernail was bleeding. Appellant made statements to the effect that his hand was swollen

due to gout and he had cut his finger at work. Appellant argues that counsel had a duty to conduct a reasonable

investigation to find evidence that could be used to support a defense or discredit a piece of the State's evidence.
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The evidence supporting this claim of error is included in the Notice of Extra-Record Evidence Suppofting
Propositions XV, XlX, and XX of the Brief of Appellant and Rule 3.11 Motion to Supplement Direct Appeal Record

and Request for an Evidentiary Hearing tendered for filing contemporaneously with the appellate brief.

fl164 Rule 3.1 1(BX3)(b), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 18, App. (2017) allows an

appellant to request an evidentiary hearing when it is alleged on appeal that trial counsel was ineffective for failing

to utilize available evidence which could have been made available during the course of trial. Warner,2006 OK

CR 40, 11207,144P.3d at 893. Once an application has been properly submitted along with supporting affidavits,

this Court reviews the application to see if it contains sufficient evidence to show this Court by clear and

convincing evidence there is a strong possibility trial counsel was ineffective for failing to utilize or identify the

complained-of evidence. /d. See a/so Grissom, 2011 OK CR 3, fl 80, 253 P.3d at 995; Slmpson v. State, 2010 OK

cR 6, lJ53, 230 P.3d 888, 905-906.

fl165 Appellant refers us to Attachment E to his motion. This is a signed affidavit from David Dicus, an lnvestigator

with the Oklahoma County Public Defender's Office. Mr. Dicus states that upon the request of appellate counsel

he interviewed Keith Prince also known as Keith Elliott to see if he remembered. anything about an injury to

Appellant's finger or hand in the time frame related to the decedent's death. Mr. Dicus stated that Mr. Elliott told

him "that it was a long time ago but he did vaguely remember [Appellant] cutting his hand or his finger in the

course of helping him with the horses and/or tending the property. He could not remember any specifics or great

detail because of the time that has passed." (Affidavit of David Dicus, Attachment E).

fl166 In order to meet the clear and convincing standard set forth above, Appellant must present this Court with

evidence, not speculation, second guesses or innuendo. Lottv. Sfafe, 2004 OK CR 27, fl 136, 98 P.3d 318, 351.

The affidavit from Mr. Dicus contains unreliable, hearsay information which is admittedly not specific. We have

said that "[w]e will not hold counsel ineffective for failing to investigate every possible avenue of defense; counsel

may make strategic choices based on less than complete investigation, which will be considered reasonable to the

extent that reasonable professional judgment supports the limitations on investigation." Browning,2006 OK CR 8,

1120, 134 P.3d at 833. The affidavit of Mr. Dicus fails to present clear and convincing evidence that there is a

strong possibility trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present further evidence of potential

causes for the injuries to Appellant's hand. Therefore, the motion to remand for an evidentiary hearing on this

ground is denied.

J1167 Regarding the claim of ineffectiveness raised in the appellate brief concerning counsel's failure to investigate

and present further evidence of potential causes for the injuries to Appellant's hand, Appellant has not shown trial

counselto be ineffective under the more rigorous federal standard set forth in Strickland for ineffective assistance

of counsel. See Srmpson, 2010 OK CR 6, f|53, 230 P.3d at 905-906.

fl168 Appellant argues further that "a simple Google search supports the contention that gout can settle in a
person's hand." lt is not clear whether Appellant is arguing that defense counsel failed to conduct such a search of

the issue or if he is asking this Court to conduct such a search. lf Appellant wants to put the results of an internet

search before this Court, he must follow our court rules and include such in a motion to supplement. Rule 3.11(B)

(3Xb), Ru/es of the Oktahoma Court of Criminat Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 18, App. (2017). Appellant has not done so.

Further, there was no evidence that Appellant actually suffered from gout. Therefore, we find Appellant has failed

to show that he was prejudiced by the absence of any evidence regarding the effects of gout on a person's hands.

fl169 Appellant finds counsel ineffective for failing to thoroughly cross-examine Da'Jon Diggs and Tobias Frederick

with available impeachment evidence. Appellant refers us to Proposition V where inconsistencies between the

testimony of Ms. Diggs and Paramedic Simmons were addressed. He asserts that counsel failed to argue these

inconsistencies to the jury. Our review of the record shows that both Ms. Diggs and Mr. Simmons testified that the

decedent identified Appellant as her attacker. Ms. Diggs testified that the decedent made the sign for "D" which

was her sign for Appellant and Mr. Simmons testified that Ms. Diggs told him the decedent said her "son" attacked

her. As Appellant was the only one of the decedent's sons present at the time of the attack, there does not appear
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to be any inconsistency between the testimony of Ms. Diggs and Paramedic Simmons. Further, as Appellant was

identified by other witnesses as the assailant, we will not find counsel ineffective for belaboring the exact

nomenclature used to identify Appellant.

fl170 Appellant also finds counsel ineffective for failing to impeach Ms. Diggs and Tobias Frederick regarding the

decedent's history of falling, that on a previous occasion the decedent had hit one of Diggs' aunts in the head with

a brick and that Diggs had her cell phone on her that day. To support this argument, Appellant directs us to his

motion for evidentiary hearing and Attachment A, a DVD copy of a police interview with Ms. Diggs and Attachment

B, a DVD copy of a police interview with Tobias Frederick. Having reviewed these interviews with police, we find

they do not provide clear and convincing evidence there is a strong possibillty trial counsel was ineffective for

failing to utilize the evidence.

fl171 Ms. Diggs was cross-examined about the decedent's history of falling. Ms. Diggs maintained that the

decedent did not have fainting spells, but admitted that at Preliminary Hearing she had testified that the decedent

had fainted two years earlier. Mr. Frederick did not testify regarding whether the decedent had a history of falling.

That he said during the police interview that he had seen her trip on occasion does not impeach his testimony.

Further, Ms. Diggs testified that she had her cell phone the day of the attack, but she left it in the house when

Appellant chased her outside, We fail to see any relevance in any statement by Ms. Diggs that the decedent had

previously hit a family member with a brick.

fl172 Appellant also directs us to Attachment C, information and police reports in the prosecution of Jerome

Frederick for domestic abuse of Ms. Diggs and the decedent. Appellant claims that Jerome Frederick (his brother)

told police that Ms. Diggs made up the allegations of abuse to keep him away from the decedent's house.

Appellant claims this was a recurrent theme in his case and the information from Jerome Frederick's case would

have impeached Ms. Diggs' testimony that Appellant struck the decedent.

fl173 The records provided by Appellant show that Jerome Frederick told police that in his case, the assault

occurred because Ms. Diggs wanted to keep him away from the decedent, whom he later assaulted. There is

nothing in the information about Ms. Diggs making up the assault claim against Jerome Frederick. Further, the

information about Jerome Frederick's case was not relevant in the prosecution of Appellant. Ms. Diggs was

thoroughly cross-examined by defense counsel as to whether she was telling the truth when she said Appellant

was the assailant and why she claimed he was the assailant'

fl174 Having thoroughly reviewed Appellant's motion, we find the information contained in Attachments A, B, and

C do not provide clear and convincing evidence there is a strong possibility trial counsel was ineffective for failing

to use the complained-of evidence. The motion to remand for an evidentiary hearing on these grounds is

DENIED.

fl175 Regarding the claim raised in the appellate brief, this case is distinguishable from G/ossrp v. Safe, 2001 OK

CR 21 , 29 p.3d 597 relied upon by Appellant. ln G/ossip, the appellant met his 3.1 1 burden and the case was sent

back for an evidentiary hearing. This Court affirmed the trialcourt's finding that counselwas ineffective forfailing to

utilize important impeachment evidence against Justin Sneed, upon whose testimony the State's case entlrely

retied. /d., 2001 OK CR 21 , fl1 9, 29 P.3d at 602. The State's case against Appellant did not rely entirely upon the

testimony of Ms. Diggs. The evidence now relied upon by Appellant was not important impeachment evidence

which if heard by the jury would have altered the outcome of the trial.

fl176 Appellant next asserts that counsel was not acting as his advocate when he informed the jury during first

stage opening statement that Appellant was a multiple convicted felon who had been institutionalized. Appellant

claims he was never consulted on the decision to proceed in that manner. Appellant further finds counsel

ineffective for telling the jury at different times in the trial that he was hard to get along with, had issues with

women, refused to cooperate in testing and acted like an "ogre". He complains that in first stage closing argument,
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counsel said that convicting Appellant of the assault and battery of Ms. Diggs "was easy" and that during second

stage closing argument, he gratuitously conceded the alleged aggravating circumstances, although stating that he

didn't think he would check as many boxes as the prosecutor had.

fl177 "Counsel must act as an advocate and subject the State's case to adversarial testing." Malicoat,2000 OK

CR 1, fl 48,992 P.2d a1405. "Appellant must overcome the strong presumption that counsel's conduct fell within a

wide range of reasonable professional assistance and equaled sound trial strategy". /d. This Court will consider

whether, viewing counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the case as seen at the time, it was professionally

unreasonable. /d.

fl178 In opening statement, defense counsel, a seasoned capital practitioner, told the jury aboutAppellant's past-

that much of it had been spent in prison, he was not the favorite son or favorite sibling and he had spent time in

juvenile homes. Counsel explained that despite this history, Appellant had family who loved and cared for him and

let him move into their home when he had no place to live. Counsel admitted that Appellant had picked up some

bad habits in his life and that due to spending most of his life in prison, did not know how to relate to women.

Counsel explained how his time in prison caused him and Ms. Diggs not to get along and helped to make him

possessive of things like food. Counsel told the jury it was important for them to understand the "dynamics of

what's going on in this family".

fl179 The decision regarding the legal arguments to be made is a matter of trial strategy. Shod 1999 OK CR 1 5, 1l

87, 908 P.2d at 1107. We will not second guess trial strategy on appeal. /d. Counsel has an obligation to use

reasonable professional judgment in making decisions concerning the defendant's case. LofL 2004 OK CR 27, 1T

l62,gBP.3dat356.Thisisnottosaythatcounsel istomakeallof thedecisionsinthecase. \d.,2004OKCR27,

1l i64, 98 P.3d at 357. lt is the defendant's case and while counsel has the responsibility to advise, inform, and

consult with the defendant, the defendant has the right be involved in the decision process that will affect his or her

life. /d.

fl180 Here, there is no indication that at trialAppellant disagreed with counsel's decisions on how to proceed with

the case. Defense counsel took his first opportunity to humanize Appellant before the jury and to put into the

defense's perspective, evidence the jury was going to hear. This was reasonable trial strategy.

fl181 In first stage closing argument, counsel did say that finding the defendant guilty of "assault and battery" of

Ms. Diggs would be "easy". However, when read in context, this was not a concession of guilt. Counsel vigorously

questioned Ms. Diggs' credibility and motive. lt was in this vein that counsel said, referring to Ms. Diggs, "l think it's

remarkable that a person who was in fear of her life and in fear and running from a big old ogre like [Appellant]that

she's very matter of fact. By the way send the police out here. She's done that before." Counsel told the jury they

should believe the testimony of one of the witnesses who saw Appellant chase Ms. Diggs outside that Appellant

did not assault Diggs. Further, counsel's emphasis in closing argument was to prevent a conviction on the most

serious of the charges, first degree murder. He argued that even if the evidence allowed for an easy finding of guilt

as to the assault and battery charge, it did not allow for a similar easy finding of guilt for first degree murder.

Counsel's remarks were not a concession of guilt, but reasonable trial strategy to maintain credibility with the jury.

fl182 In capital sentencing closing argument, counsel did not concede the aggravating circumstances. Leading up

to the challenged comment, he referenced the jury instructions and the prosecutor's coverage of them in her

closing argument. Counsel in effect said that under the evidence, he had no disagreement with the list of

aggravating circumstances sent to the jury for their consideration. However, throughout his argument, counsel

challenged the evidence supporting the alleged aggravators, reminded the jury that the decision to find the

existence of an aggravating circumstance was a group decision and that it must be unanimous. He further

reminded them that even if they were to find the existence of an aggravator, they were then only authorized to

consider the death penalty, they were not required to return a death sentence.
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fl183 Contrary to Appellant's contention, counsel's argument was not a concession to the existence of the

aggravators or that the death sentence was a foregone conclusion. Counsel went on to argue that the mitigating

evidence outweighed the aggravating and therefore the death penalty was not warranted. Counsel concluded by

stating that "perhaps [Appellant] could make a life in prison for himself where he's made a life for himself in the

past. Maybe life is enough." During the sentencing stage of trial, arguing for the lightest possible sentence is
certainly a sound tactical choice on counsel's part.

'1f184 Appellant next asserts counsel failed to subject the State's evidence of the prior acquitted conduct to any

meaningful adversarial testing. Defense counsel raised an objection to admission of the evidence but was

overruled. The State presented two witnesses, Antonio Jackson and Tammie Brookins, who testified to the facts of

the incident at the hair salon. Appellant now argues defense counsel should have called witnesses who testified in

the prior trial that there was no evidence corroborating the State's witnesses and that he should have offered the

transcript of the testimony of Letava Williams, a defense witness who was deceased by the time of the instant trial.

Appellant criticizes defense counsel for not knowing that Ms. Williams was deceased.

fl185 As part of his Rule 3.11 motion, Appellant includes an affidavit from Wllie Germany, Chief Investigatorwith

the Oklahoma County Public Defender's Office, who states that he was able to determine that Ms. Williams

passed away in 2009 and that she is the same person called as a defense witness in the prior trial for crimes

arising out of the incident at the hair salon. (Affidavit of Willie Germany, Attachment D).

fl186 Appellant also includes Attachment G, a copy of Ms. Williams'prior testimony. In the trial of the 2003

charges, Ms. Williams testified that people in the hair salon were talking about Appellant. She said Appellant had

been very nice to her, and she thought all of the talk about him was unnecessary. She did not specify the nature of

the talk but said the atmosphere in the salon made her uncomfortable. On cross-examination, she testified that

was her first visit to the salon. She said she never heard anyone threaten Appellant, that Appellant was minding

his own business, she did not know Appellant or anyone in the salon except for her hairdresser and that she left

before the acts on trial occurred.

fl187 Appellant has not shown by clear and convincing evidence there is a strong possibility trial counsel was

ineffective for failing to know that Ms. Williams was deceased or for failing to offer her prior testimony. Ms.

Williams had left the salon by the time Appellant threatened and assaulted the others. Her testimony would not

have contradicted that of Jackson and Brookins as to Appellant's conduct at the time of the assaults. The motion

to remand for an evidentiary on this ground is DENIED.

fl188 As for the claim raised in the appellate brief, Appellant asserts that in the original trial of the incident at the

hair salon, the State called nine witnesses, including four police officers. Appellant asserts that in the trial for his

mother's death, defense counsel should have called the officers responding to the hair salon who allegedly

testified in the previous trial there was no corroborating evidence of Appellant's guilt. Appellant also asserts that

once the previous jury came back with 13 not guilty verdicts, the State dismissed the charge of possession of

firearm after former conviction of a felony. Appellant asserts this should have been introduced as an admission by

party opponent that the evidence was not credible enough to proceed to a jury.

11189 lt is easy with hindsight to argue that trial counsel should have essentially sought to retry the 2003 hair salon

case. However, it is not clear if the trial judge would have allowed it or if it would have been the best use of

counsel's time and resources. Evidence of the incident at the hair salon in 2003 was properly admitted as

acquitted conduct in support of the continuing threat aggravating circumstance. The best response to the State's

evidence was that Appellant's conduct did not result in a criminal conviction. The jury heard just such testimony.

Would it have made a difference in the jury's finding of the aggravating circumstance if they heard from more than

one witness that Appellant had been acquitted of the criminal charges associated with the hair salon incident, or

that witnesses in that previous trial did not corroborate the testimony of the witnesses the State chose to testify to
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the acquitted conduct? We can't say. What we can say is that the acquitted conduct evidence was only a part of

the evidence introduced to support the continuing threat aggravating circumstance. The jury also heard evidence

of nine instances of Appellant's prior use or threats of violence.

11190 The claim that appellate counsel would have treated the acquitted conduct differently does not make trial

counsel ineffective. See Shu/fz v. Stafe, 1991 OK CR 57,1t9,811 P.2d 1322, 1327 ("[t]he fact that another lawyer

would have followed a different course during the trial is not grounds for branding the appointed attorney with the

opprobrium of ineffectiveness", clfrng Williams v. Beto,354 F.2d 698, 706 (5th Cir.1965)). Absent a showing of

incompetence, the Appellant is bound by the decisions of his counsel and mistakes in tactic and trial strategy do

not provide grounds for subsequent attack. /d.

fl19'l Counsel's decision not to highlight further the acquitted conduct evidence by choosing not to put on

additional witnesses to testify to the conduct was a reasonable strategic decision. Further, we are not convinced

that introducing any other evidence concerning the acquitted charges would have made the jury less likely to find

the existence of the continuing threat aggravator. Therefore we find Appellant has failed to meet the more rigorous

Strickland standard of ineffectiveness as he has not shown any prejudice by counsel's defense of the continuing

threat aggravator and more specifically, counsel's failure to further challenge the State's acquitted conduct

evidence.

fl1g2 Appellant next directs our attention to counsel's failure to call Dr. Art Williams to testify. During capital

sentencing stage opening statement, defense counsel told the jury that he would present testimony from Dr. Art

Williams, a sociologist, who would tell the jury about Appellant and his life. However, defense counsel rested his

case without calling the witness. At the close of evidence, defense counsel explained to the court that he was not

calling Dr. Williams to testify as Appellant never "interacted" with the doctor. Counsel said that Dr. Williams

reported that the two were rn the same room, but Appellant refused to talk or participate in any testing. Counsel

explained that Dr. Williams would testify that Appellant was institutionalized but that evidence had already come in,

"so, I don't think we need a sociologist to tell us something that's obvious." Counsel also admitted he was worried

about the prosecutor's cross-examination of the witness. Counsel informed the court he had fully intended to call

the doctor but decrded that day not to for strategic reasons.

fl1g3 Now on appeal, Appellant complains that counsel's decision not to call the witness to testify after telling the

jury he would do so was not reasonable trial strategy. Appellant argues that counsel should have known of his

concerns before telling the jury it would hear from the witness'

fl1g4 The record shows that counsel's decision not to call the witness was based in part on Appellant's failure to

coooerate but also on counsel's realization of the intense scrutiny the witness would have been placed under

during cross-examination. The prosecutor affirmed counsel's concerns by informing the court that she was

prepared to cross-examine and impeach the doctor on specific points and that she was planning on calling a

witness to impeach and refute Dr. Williams' testimony. Defense counsel informed the court he was worried that

through these experts, the jury would hear that Appellant had been previously acquitted of murder.

fl195 Based upon this record, counsel's decision not to call the witness, despite his comment in opening

statements, was reasonable trial strategy. We recognize that counsel may, at times, have legitimate reasons for

not calling certain witnesses to testify. Smith v. Sfafe, 1982 OK CR '143,1121,650 P.2d 904, 908. The decision of

which witness to call at trial is one of strategy best left to counsel, and generally will not be second-guessed on

appeal. ld.

fl196 The record shows that Dr. Williams was a sociologist who would have testified to Appellant's background. As

defense counsel told the trial court, much of what Dr. Williams would have testified to was already before the jury

in the form of testimony from other witnesses. Not calling Dr. Williams to testify appears to have forced the

prosecution in part to alter its course at trial. That the witness was not called to testify was easily explained in
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closing argument. Appellant has not shown that counsel's failure to call the witness to testify after stating he would

was in any way held against the defense. Based upon the record before us, Appellant has failed to show any

prejudice.

fl197 Appellant further finds counsel ineffective for failing to request additional peremptory challenges during voft

dire and failing to identify unqualified jurors whom he would have struck with his additional challenges. As we

addressed in Proposition l, there is no evidence to suggest that an unfit juror sat on Appellant's jury or that the

result of the trial would have been any different had defense counsel requested, received and exercised additional

peremptory challenges. Therefore, Appellant has failed to show any prejudice and this claim of ineffectiveness is

denied. See Young v. Sfafe, 1998 OK CR 62,1'1171-72,992 P.2d 332,347.

fl198 Finally, Appellant finds counsel ineffective for failing to object to errors at trial and request admonishments.

Rather than repeating his arguments, Appellant merely lists them and requests they be reviewed as violations of

the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution as well as for plain error. These

allegations include: 1) counsel's failure to object to capital sentencing prosecutorial misconduct, see Proposition

XIX; 2) counsel's failure to object to the alleged hearsay statement of the decedent identifying Appellant as her

attacker and the alleged hearsay statements of Natalie Patterson, see Proposition lV; 3) counsel's failure to object

to improper opinion testimony of Paramedic Simmons, see Proposition Vll; and 4) counsel's failure to object to the

prosecution's flight argument or request proper instructions, see Proposition lX.

fl19g We have addressed each of these claims in this opinion and found no errorwarranting relief. Therefore, any

objections by the trial court would have been denied. We have repeatedly held that we will not find counsel

ineffective for failing to raise objections which would have been denied. Eizember,2007 OK CR 29, !J 155, 164

P.3d at244.

fl200 Having thoroughly reviewed Appellant's Notice of Extra-Record Evidence Supporting Propositions XV, XX,

and XX of the Brief of Appettant and Rute 3.11 Motion to Supplement Direct Appeal Record and Request for an

Evidentiary Hearing, and accompanying affidavits, we find he has failed to show by clear and convincing evidence

a strong possibility that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate further and utilize the complained-

of evidence.5 We decline to grant Appellant's application for an evidentiary hearing on Sixth Amendment

grounds. We also deny his motion to supplement the record'

fl201 Additionally, after thoroughly reviewing the record, and Appellant's allegations of ineffectiveness, we have

considered counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the case as viewed at the time and have asked if the

conduct was professionally unreasonable and, if so, whether the error affected the jury's judgment. Warner,2006

OK CR 40, fJ206, 144 P.3d at 893. Defense counsel's performance in this case did not "so undermine the proper

functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." /d.,

quoting Strickland,466 U.S. at 686, 104 S.Ct. at2064. Appellant has failed to meet his burden of showing a

reasonable probability that, but for any unprofessional errors by counsel, the result of the trial would have been

different as any errors or omissions by counsel did not influence the jury's determination of guilt or decision to

impose the death sentence. Accordingly, we find that Appellant was not denied the effective assistance of counsel

and this proposition of error is denied.

ACCUMULATION OF ERROR CLAIM

fl202 In Proposition XXl, Appellant asserts that cumulative error warrants a new trial or a modification of his

sentence. A cumulative error argument has no merit when this Court fails to sustain any of the other errors raised

by Appellant. Warner,2006 OK CR 40,1'223, 144 P.3d at 896. However, when there have been numerous

irregularities during the course of a trial that tend to prejudice the rights of the defendant, reversal will be required

if the cumulative effect of all the errors is to deny the defendant a fair trial. ld. While certain errors did occur in this

case, even considered together, they were not so egregious or numerous as to have denied Appellant a fair trial.

Therefore, no new trial or modification of sentence is warranted and this proposition of error is denied.
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MANDATORY SENTENCE REV]EW

fl203 In his Proposition XXll, Appellant contends his sentence should be modified under our mandatory sentence

review. He argues his death sentence was rendered arbitrarily in this case as a result of passion and prejudice

caused by all of the foregoing errors. Appellant further argues his execution would violate the Eighth Amendment
prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment.

fl204 Pursuantto 21 O.S.2011, $ 701.13(C), we mustdetermine (1)whetherthe sentence of death was imposed

under the influence of passion, prejudice or any other arbitrary factor, and (2) whether the evidence supports the
jury's finding of the aggravating circumstances as enumerated in 21 O.S.2011, $ 701.12. Turning to the second

portion of this mandate, the jury found the existence of three aggravating circumstances: 1) the defendant was

previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person; 2) the murder was especially

heinous, atrocious and cruel; and 3) the existence of a probability that the defendant would commit criminal acts of

violence that would constitute a continuing threat to society. 21 O.S.201 1 , S 70'1 .'12(1)(4X7).

1]205 In Proposition Xlll, we found the evidence sufficient to support the prior violent aggravator. In Proposition

XlV, we found the evidence sufficient to support the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious or cruel.

fl206 To support the aggravator of continuing threat, the State must present evidence showing the defendant's

behavior demonstrated a threat to society and a probability that threat would continue to exist in the future. Davis,

2011 OK CR 29, lJ 136, 268 P.3d at 122. To prove this aggravating circumstance, the State may present any

relevant evidence, in conformance with the rules of evidence, including evidence from the crime itself, evidence of

other crimes, admissions by the defendant of unadjudicated offenses or any other relevant evidence. /d. A finding

that the defendant would commit criminal acts of violence that would constitute a continuing threat to society is

appropriate when the evidence establishes the defendant participated in other unrelated criminal acts and the

nature of the crime exhibited the calloused nature of the defendant. /d. The continuing threat aggravator is aimed

at the defendant's future conduct. Ryder v. Sfafe, 2004 OK CR 2, 1166, 83 P.3d 856, 871. To establish continuing

threat, the State must show a pattern of criminal conduct that will likely continue in the future. /d.

fl207 In support of this aggravator the State presented evidence of Appellant's juvenile conviction in 1972 for

Robbery with Firearms, the details of his '1981 conviction for First Degree Burglary, and his 2003 conduct at the

hair salon leading to the filing of criminal charges. The State also offered evidence that in 2006, Appellant beat his

sister Karen Frederick. Witnesses testified that Appellant attacked her, hit her in the jaw and dislocated it, grabbed

her crutches and beat her with them, and stomped and kicked her while she was on the ground. Other evidence

showed that sometime after that attack, Appellant assaulted Ms. Frederick's grandson, hitting him in the head,

choking and strangling him. Evidence also showed that in 2006 or 2007, Appellant physically threatened and

attacked a ten year old friend of Ms. Diggs and in 2010 he turned a visit with his neighbor into a violent encounter

when in the absence of any provocation, he attacked and beat the woman, repeatedly punching her in the face

with his fists.

fl208 Appellant's criminal history shows a pattern of escalating violence. This evidence, combined with the

evidence of the bludgeoning of the decedent, overwhelmingly supports the aggravator as establishing the

existence of a probability that Appellant would commit criminal acts of violence that would constitute a continuing

threat to society. See Davis, 20'11 OK CR 29, fJ 139, 268 P.3d at 122-23.

fl209 Evidence offered in mitigation showed that Appellant was raised in a strict, church going family. However, as

he grew older, his father was gone from the family for long periods of time and Appellant was exposed to certain

negative influences from which he had previously been protected. Evidence showed that Appellant was easily led

by others, immature in many ways and slow to understand things. When he '14 years old he rebelled against his

father and left home. He found he was not equipped to take care of himself and returned home, however his father

thereafter did not take an interest in him. When he was 14 or 15 years old, he was involved in a carwreck and hit

his head on the windshield. His father thought he was never the same after that. His father thought Appellant
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would have benefitted from juvenile rehabilitation programs after his robbery conviction but he was never given the

opportunity. Evidence showed that being institutionalized made Appellant suspicious of others and overly

aggressive, that he has never learned to live as a free man and is unable to cope with stress and the strain of

society. This evidence was summarized and presented to the jury in Instruction No. 15 along with any other

mitigating evidence the jury might find existed.

fl210 Upon our review of the record and careful weighing of the aggravating circumstances and the mitigating

evidence, we find the sentence of death to be factually substantiated and appropriate. Under the record before this

Court, we cannot say the jury was influenced by passion, prejudice, or any other arbitrary factor contrary to 21

O.S.2011, S 701.13(C), in finding that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating evidence.

Accordingly, finding no error warranting reversal or modification, this appeal is denied.

DECTSTON

fl211 The JUDGMENTS and SENTENCES are AFFIRMED. The motions to Supplement the Record and

Remand for Evidentiary hearing on Sixth Amendment grounds are DENIED.6 Pursuant to Rule 3.15, Rules

of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals,Title22, Ch.18, App. (2017), the MANDATE is ORDERED issued

upon the delivery and filing of this decision.
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OPINION BY: LUMPKIN, P.J.

LEWIS, V.P.J.: Concur
JOHNSON, J.: Recuse

SMITH, J.: Concur in Result

HUDSON, J.: Concur

FOOTNOTES
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1 Appellant's Petition in Error was filed in this Court on July 6, 201 5. His brief was filed February 16,

2016. The State's brief was filed on June 14, 20'16. Appellant's reply brief was filed July 5, 2016, The case

was submitted to the Court on June 28, 2016. Oral arguments were held on January 17 ,2017 .

2 lt is for this very reason that I voiced my concern in Mitchelland urged the Court to require a flight

instruction in every case where the evidence warranted it. 876 P.3d at 686-687 (Lumpkin, P.J. concur in
parUdissent in part). lt is only through a proper instruction that jurors can understand how to evaluate flight

from the scene.

3 Appellant asserts that the officers interjected evidentiary harpoons into their testimony. However, his

argument is not fully developed, his citation to the record is inaccurate and his supporting case is found

only in a footnote. Under our rules, this claim is not properly before the Court. Rule 3.5(A)(5), Ru/es of fhe

Oklahoma Courl of CriminalAppeals, Title 22, Ch.18, App. (2017).

a In his footnotes 80 and 81, Appellant refers to videotaped interviews of Tobias Frederick and Da'Jon

Diggs. These interviews are more fully addressed in Proposition XX.

5 After the filing of his brief in chief, Appellant tendered for filing a Motion to Stay Proceedings to Allow

Supptementation of Appellant's lneffective Assisfance of Counsel claim in his brief-in-chief as well as

supptementation of Appellant's 3.118 Motion and a Supp/emental Brief of Appellant to Proposition XX.

This motion and the filing of the supplemental brief were denied by this Court.

6 The Clerk of this Court is directed to return the motion to defense counsel and keep a copy for record

keeping purposes. Rule 1 .13(K), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 18, App.

(2017)
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IN THE COURT OF' CRIMINAL APPEAI.S OF THE STATE OF OI{LAIIOMA
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DARRELL WAYNE FREDERICK,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF OKT,AHOMA,

NOT FOR PUBLICATION

Case No. D-2015-15
FI tED

ilx^cgglT_0f cRtM I NAt APPEALS
STATE OF OKLAHOlrrrn--

JUL - 7 2017
Appellee.

MICHAEL S. ruqHIE
oRpER pEIIXI_NG RTHEARIIIG ANp cLERK

DIRECTING ISSUAilCE OF MAITDATE

Appellant was convicted in a jury trial before the Honorable

Timothy Henderson, District Judge, of First Degree Malice Murder (Count

I QI O.S.2001, S 70 1.7(A)), Assault and Battery with A Dangerous

Weapon, After Former Conviction of TWo or more Felonies (Count II) (21

O.S.2001, $ 645), and Domestic Abuse Assault and Battery (Count III)

{21 O.5.2001, S 644 {C)), Case No. CF-2OIL-1946, in the District Court of

Oklahoma County. In Count I, the jury found the presence of ttrree

aggravating circumstances: 1) the defendant was previously convicted of

a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person; 2) the

murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel; and 3) the existence

of a probability that the defendant would commit criminal acts of

violence that would constitute a continuing threat to society, and set

punishment at death. In Counts II and III, the jury recommended



imprisonment for twenty-five (25) years and one year, respectively. The

trial judge sentenced Appellant in accordance with the jury's

determination and ordered all sentences to run consecutively. This Court

affirmed Appellant's convictions and sentences in Fvederick u. State,2AIT

oK cR L2, _ P.3d _.
Appellant is now before the Court on a Petition for Rehearing, Rule

3.L4, Rules of the Court of Criminal Appeals, 22 O.S.2011, Ch. 18, App.

According to Rule 3.14, a Petition for Rehearing shall be filed for two

reasons only:

(1) That some question decisive of the case and duly submitted by

the attorney of record has been overlooked by the Court, or

(21 That tl:e decision is in conflict with an express statute or

controlling decision to which the attention of this Court was

not called either in the brief or in oral argument.

Appellant raises four (4) propositions of error which he claims

warrant rehearing: 1) referring to Proposition VI in the appellate opinion,

addressing challenges to the testimony of expert witnesses, Appellant now

argues that we failed to address the notice and reciprocal discovery

requirements of the Oklatroma Criminal Discovery Code; 2) referring to

Proposition VIII of the opinion, Appellant asserts that rehearing is

warranted because he was entitled to instructions on lesser included

2



offenses because counsel made an isolated remark in closing argument

that Appellant might have struck his mother; 3) in Proposition XV,

Appellant disagrees with our interpretation of United Sfafes u. Watts, 519

U.S. 148, I57, LLT S.Ct. 633, 638, 136 L.Ed.2d 554 (19971 and its

application to the admission of evidence of previous acquitted conduct;

and 4) the failure to apply Jaclcson u. State,2001 OK CR 37,41 P.3d 395

to counsel's alleged concession of guilt to prior crimes and aggravating

circumstances as raised in Proposition XX.

We have thoroughly reviewed Appellant's grounds for rehearing. We

have also thoroughly reviewed our opinion in Appellant's case and find

that we fully addressed the issues raised. Appellant's arguments on

rehearing are merely disagreements with the analysis and conclusions

reached by the Court, He has failed to show that we overlooked any

question decisive of the case or that our decision is in conflict with any

controlling authority. Therefore, he has not proper$ set forth any grounds

for rehearing.

Based upon the foregohg, this Motion for Rehearing is DENIED. The

Clerk of this Court is ordered to issue the mandate forthwith.

IT IS SO ORI}ERED.

WITNESS OUR HAIIDS AND THE SEAL OI. ?HIS COURT

q4 
day of , zerr.

this



NOT PARTICIPATING
ARLEI{E JOHNSON, Judge
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